IMPACT OF SASKATOON BERRY POWDER ON METABOLISM AND GUT

MICROBIOTA IN DIET-INDUCED INSULIN RESISTANT MICE

by

Fei Huang

A Thesis Submitted to The Faculty of Graduate Studies of

The University of Manitoba

in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Food and Human Nutritional Sciences

University of Manitoba

Winnipeg

Copyright © 2021 by Fei Huang

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes is one of the most common and prevalent metabolic disorders with an ever-increasing rate globally. Metabolic syndromes are characterized by low-grade inflammation and insulin resistance, and are usually accompanied with alteration in the gut microbiota profile. Evidence in recent decades shows that the gut microbiota plays a significant role in the development of metabolic syndromes, and obese individuals have abnormal gut microbiota in composition, abundance and metabolic functions compared to lean individuals. Saskatoon berry is a type of fruit-bearing shrub native in North America. Previous studies found that Saskatoon berry powder (SBp) is capable of reducing inflammation in leptin receptor-knockout (db/db) diabetic mice. Among the anthocyanins in SBp, cyanidin-3-glucoside (C3G) has 3 times higher anti-inflammatory capacity compared to cyanidin-3-galactoside (C3Ga) according to endothelial cell studies. However, research on the effects of Saskatoon berries or contained active components on diabetes and gut microbiota still remains limited. In the present study, the effects of SBp and C3G on diabetes-related physiological indicators and gut microbiota were explored. The result shows that both SBp and C3G significantly decreased elevated levels of glucose, cholesterol, triglyceride, insulin, insulin resistance and inflammatory markers caused by high fat-high sucrose (HFHS) diet. Certain bacteria in the mouse gut, such as Muribaculaceae, was significantly increased by 5% SBp (w/w) or equivalent amount of C3G in 5% SBp. Correlation results revealed that some bacterial families, such as *Muribaculaceae* and *Akkermansiaceae*, are negatively associated with hyperglycemia, hypercholesteremia, hyperlipidemia, insulin resistance and low-grade inflammation. Dose-response study found that addition of 1-2.5% (w/w) SBp into HFHS diet already showed an anti-diabetic and anti-inflammatory effects. These findings suggest that Saskatoon berries or related products may have the potential to be applied as a functional food for the prevention or treatment of type 2 diabetes.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I would love to express my thanks to my supervisor, Dr. Garry Shen, for his understanding, guidance and support throughout my research. A special acknowledgement extends to my committee members Dr. Trust Beta, Dr. Amy Hui, Dr. Meghan Azad and Dr. Tooru Mizuno for their advice and expertise. Many thanks go to Dr. Ruozhi Zhao for his assistance on animal experiments and technical support during the whole project. Special thanks go to Denise Borowski for her help with animal training and Dr. Andre Comeau for technique support. Additional thanks go to Dr. Peng Wan for exchanging opinions on the project. This work would not have been possible without the financial support of University of Manitoba and Diabetes Canada, which provided me with stipend for the duration of my degree. Finally, my deepest love and thanks go to my parents and my other family members, for their endless support and encouragement.

List of tables	vii
List of figures	viii
List of abbreviations	xi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
Saskatoon berries and distribution	1
Growth pattern and characteristics	1
Commercial applications	2
Phytochemicals of Saskatoon berries	3
Anthocyanins of Saskatoon berries	3
Health benefits of Saskatoon berries and anthocyanins	4
Diabetes	5
Pathogenesis of diabetes	6
Insulin and insulin resistance	6
Inflammation	7
Microbial community and gut microbiota	8
Gut microbiota and diseases	9
Gut microbiota mechanism for diseases	9
Gut microbiota and diets	9
CHAPTER 2: HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES	11
Study Hypothesis	11
Specific Objectives	11
CHAPTER 3: METHODS AND RESULTS	12
Part 1: Effects of Saskatoon berry powder on high fat-high sucrose die	et-induced
insulin resistance and gut dysbiosis in mice	12
Methods and Materials	12
Preparation of Saskatoon berry powder	12
Diet preparation	12
Animal preparation	12

Table of Contents

Dietary experimental design	13
Measurement of biochemical indicators	13
Measurements of inflammatory markers	13
Fecal sample collection and DNA extraction	14
16S rRNA sequencing	14
Bioinformatics analysis and statistics	14
Results	15
Effects of SBp on body weights, food intake, plasma glucose, chole	sterol
and triglycerides	15
Effects of SBp on insulin and HOMA-IR	16
Effects of SBp on inflammatory markers	16
Effects of SBp on gut microbiota	16
Correlations of gut bacteria with physiochemical results	17
Part 2: Effects of cyanidin-3-glucoside on high-fat high-sucrose diet-ind	luced
insulin resistance and gut dysbiosis in mice	28
Materials and methods	28
Dietary Intervention	28
Food intake and body weight	28
Blood collection	28
Diabetes-related biochemical parameters	29
Measurement of Inflammatory markers	29
Fecal sample collection	29
DNA extraction and sequencing	29
Bioinformatic analysis and statistics	30
Results	31
Body weight and food intake	31
Effects of C3G and SBp on glucose, cholesterol and triglycerides	31
Effects of C3G and SBp on insulin and HOMA-IR	31
Effects of C3G and SBp on gut microbiota	32

Part 3: Dose-response of Saskatoon berry powder on high-fat high-sucrose diet-
induced insulin resistance and gut dysbiosis in mice47
Material and method47
Dietary Intervention47
Food intake and body weight47
Blood collection
Diabetes-related biochemical parameters
Measurement of Inflammatory markers48
Fecal sample collection
DNA extraction and sequencing
Bioinformatic analysis and statistics
Results
Effects of 1% and 2.5% SBp on plasma levels of glucose, cholesterol and
triglycerides48
Effects of 1% SBp and 2.5% SBp on insulin and HOMA-IR49
Effects of 1% and 2.5% SBp on levels of inflammatory markers
Effects of 1% and 2.5% SBp on gut microbiota
Comparison of effects of 1%, 2.5% and 5% SBp supplemented into HFHS
diets
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION
Major novel findings of the studies61
Hypoglycemic effects of berries and possible mechanism
Hypolipidemic effects of berries and possible mechanism
Inhibition of inflammation and possible mechanisms67
Modulation of gut microbiota and implications69
Conclusion
Limitations of the researches in the present study73
Future directions and knowledge translation74
References75

List of tables

of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on the abundances of bacteria on	Table 3-1-1
he mouse gut	phylum
of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on the abundances of bacteria on	Table 3-1-2
e mouse gut	family le

List of figures

Figure 3-1-1	Fasting plasma glucose, body weight and food intake in mice fed with
HFHS di	et or HFHS+SBp diet20
Figure 3-1-2	Effects of HFHS and HFHS+SBp on cholesterol and triglycerides in
mice	
Figure 3-1-3	Effects of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on insulin and insulin resistance
in mice	
Figure 3-1-4	Effects of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on inflammatory markers in
mouse pla	asma23
Figure 3-1-5	Impact of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on the diversity of intestinal
microbiot	a in mice24
Figure 3-1-6	The effects of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on the abundance of gut
bacteria o	n phylum level25
Figure 3-1-7	The effects of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on the abundance percentage
of gut bac	eteria on family level
Figure 3-1-8	Correlations between the abundances of family-level gut bacteria and
body weig	ght, metabolic variables or inflammatory markers27
Figure 3-2-1	Effects of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on the
body we	ight and food intake of mice
Figure 3-2-2	Levels of glucose, cholesterol and triglycerides in plasma of mice fed
with HFH	S diets supplemented with or without SBp or C3G
Figure 3-2-3	Effects of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on
insulin an	d insulin resistance in mice
Figure 3-2-4	Effects of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on
inflamma	tory markers
Figure 3-2-5	Effect of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on β -
diversity	of gut microbiota in mice. PCA was based on Bray–Curtis dissimilarities
between a	Ill sample sets40

Figure 3-2-6	Effects of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on the
relative at	oundance of <i>Bacteroidetes</i> and <i>Firmicutes</i> 41
Figure 3-2-7	Effect of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on the
relative at	oundance of gut microbiota on family level42
Figure 3-2-8	Correlations between the abundances of gut bacteria and body weight,
metabolic	variables or inflammatory markers
Figure 3-2-9	Linear regression analysis of correlation between the relative abundance
of three fa	milies and three key diabetes-related indicators44
Figure 3-2-10	Comparison of the effects of SBp and C3G on HFHS-induced gut
microbiot	a profiles45
Figure 3-2-11	Function prediction of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp
or C3G th	rough PICRUSt
Figure 3-3-1	Levels of glucose, cholesterol and triglycerides in plasma of mice fed
with HFF	IS diets supplemented 1% or 2.5% SBp52
Figure 3-3-2	Effects of HFHS diets supplemented with 1% or 2.5% SBp on insulin
and insuli	n resistance in mice
Figure 3-3-3	Levels of inflammatory markers in the plasma of mice receiving the
HFHS die	t supplemented with 1% or 2.5% SBp54
Figure 3-3-4	Effect of the HFHS diet supplemented with 1% or 2.5% SBp on β -
diversity i	n mice55
Figure 3-3-5	Effects of HFHS diet supplemented with 1% or 2.5% SBp on the relative
abundance	e of <i>Bacteroidetes</i> and <i>Firmicutes</i> 56
Figure 3-3-6	Effect of HFHS diet supplemented with 1% or 2.5% SBp on the relative
abundance	e of gut microbiota on family level57
Figure 3-3-7	Linear regression analysis of correlations between the relative
abundance	e of Muribaculaceae and metabolic variables or inflammatory markers in
plasma of	the studied mice
Figure 3-3-8	Comparison of relative changes in glucose, insulin and HOMA-IR of
HFHS gro	up, HFHS+1% SBp group, HFHS+2.5% SBp group and HFHS+5% SBp

group	9
are 3-3-9 Linear regression analysis of correlation between the relative abundance	e
of Muribaculaceae and relative changes of glucose, insulin and HOMA-II	٤,
respectively	0

List of abbreviations

- ASV Amplicon Sequence Variants
- C3G Cyanidin-3-Glucoside
- C3Ga Cyanidin-3-Galactoside
- CoA Coenzyme A
- CTL Control
- FMT Fecal Microbiota Transplantation
- HDL-High-Density Lipoproteins
- HFHS High Fat-High Sucrose
- HLA Human Leukocyte Antigen
- HOMA-IR Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance
- $IL-1\beta Interleukin-1\beta$
- IL-6 Interleukin-6
- LDL Low-Density Lipoproteins
- LDL-C Low-Density Lipoproteins Cholesterol
- HDL-C High-Density Lipoproteins Cholesterol
- LPS Lipopolysaccharide
- MCP-1 Monocyte Chemotactic Protein 1
- ORAC Oxygen Radical Absorbance Capacity
- PAI-1 Plasminogen Activator Inhibitor-1
- PCR Polymerase Chain Reaction

PCA - Principal Component Analysis

PICRUSt – Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States

- QIIME Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology
- SBp Saskatoon Berry powder
- SCFAs Short Chain Fatty Acids
- SOD Superoxide Dismutase
- T1D Type 1 Diabetes
- T2D Type 2 Diabetes
- TNF- α Tumor Necrosis Factor- α

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Saskatoon berries and distribution

Saskatoon berry, also known as Saskatoon, juneberry or serviceberry, is a fruit-bearing shrub native to North American continent, and naturally grow in southern Yukon and Northwest Territories in Canada as well as northwestern states in the United States (Mazza & Davidson, 1993). Indigenous people used to use it to make pies, juice and pemmican (Leighton, 1997). This berry fruit was also adopted by early landed European settlers as an effective remedy for ascorbic acid insufficiency. In spite of a long history of consuming Saskatoon berry, agricultural cultivation did not start until the 1900s when pioneers transplanted it from the wild (Turner & Aderkas, 2012).

The fruit of the Saskatoon berry shrub has similar appearance as that of the blueberry shrub. However, in fact, unlike blueberry and cranberry which belong to *Vacciniaceae*, Saskatoon berry is a pome fruit of *Rosaceae*, showing its closer affinity to apple and pear than traditional 'berries' (Mazza, 2005).

Growth pattern and characteristics

The Saskatoon berry shrub is self-fertile and thus does not need cross-pollination (Olson, 1984). It usually takes up to 8-12 years to grow into a mature plant with a height of 3-4 meters (Laughlin et al., 1996) (Figure 1-1-1). In spite of being able to grow in a wide range of conditions, it prefers lower temperature and alkaline environment rather than warm and acid places (St-Pierre et al., 2005), because it can sustain more drought and require much less irrigation compared to most other berries (Laughlin et al., 1996).



Figure 1-1-1 Photos of Saskatoon berry shrubs and fruit clusters. Pictures were taken in Saskatoon berry orchard in Portage la Prairie, Manitoba

Plants begin to bear fruit at three to five years of age, coming into full production by seven to eight years (Loeppky, 1984). Berries often ripen in late July, 6-8 weeks after flowering. Depending on cultivars, yields and fruit sizes may differ. And the harvest of fruits can range from 0.72 to 4.16 kg per shrub (Bieniek et al., 2019). The largest size of berry fruits can reach up to 13.9 mm in diameter for 'Martin' cultivar, while other cultivars such as 'Success' and 'Bluff' have relatively small sizes (St-Pierre et al., 2005).

Commercial applications

Saskatoon berries have been applied into the food industry in diverse forms. Fruits with

lower quality are processed in jams and purees where intact appearance is not a selling point. Pigment from dark color skin is made into food colorant for edible additives (Reddy, 2006). Due to the easy rottenness, present markets have only approximately 10-12% of Saskatoon berries sold fresh with the majority of them sold frozen or canned (Reddy, 2006). Since fruits often have a longer storage period after dehydration, industry has resorted to different dehydrating techniques, such as freeze drying, vacuum drying and microwave drying, to process Saskatoon berries (Lachowicz, Michalska, et al., 2019). However, loss of bioactive compounds inevitably happens in the process of dehydration. Compared to vacuum dried and microwave dried ones, freeze-dried berries have higher contents of total phenolics, anthocyanins and polyphenols as well as antioxidant activities (Alfaro et al., 2014).

Phytochemicals of Saskatoon berries

Saskatoon berries reportedly contain at least 48 phytochemicals, such as polyphenols, triterpenoids, carotenoids, chlorophylls and tocopherols (Lachowicz et al., 2017). Phytochemical components in leaves include quercetin, epicatechin and chlorogenic acid, while stems contain flavanone, catechins, and hydroxybenzoic acids (Bakowska-Barczak & Kolodziejczyk, 2008). Seeds were found to have polymeric procyanidins, triglycerides (containing mainly linoleic acid and oleic acid), tocopherol and sterol (Bakowska-Barczak et al., 2009). In terms of fruits, soluble solids and flavonols are the predominant components in the flesh, while peels have the greatest concentrations of phytochemicals which include anthocyanins, polymerized compounds, triterpenoids and hydroxycinnamic acid (Lachowicz et al., 2020).

Anthocyanins of Saskatoon berries

Among all the phenolic compounds in Saskatoon berries, cyanidin-based anthocyanins predominate and account for 63% of the total phenols. The composition of anthocyanins can vary from 258.7 to 517.9 mg/100 g fresh weight according to different cultivars (Lavola et al., 2012). Types of anthocyanins identified in Saskatoon berries consist of

cyanidin-3-galactoside (C3Ga), cyanidin-3-glucoside (C3G), cyanidin-3-arabinoside, cyanidin-3-xyloside, cyanidin-3,5-diglucoside. C3Ga and C3G are the two leading anthocyanins in Saskatoon berries (Hu et al., 2005; Meczarska et al., 2017). In terms of the 'Smoky' cultivar, only four cyanidin-based anthocyanins were detected: C3Ga (3708.2 mg/kg dry weight basis), C3G (903.4 mg/kg dry weight basis), cyanidin-3-arabinoside (345.0 mg/kg dry weight basis) and cyanidin-3-xyloside (314.5 mg/kg dry weight basis) (Hosseinian & Beta, 2007; Zhao, Le, et al., 2014).

Within the two most abundant anthocyanins in SBp, cyanidin-3-glucoside (C3G) was found to have 3 times higher anti-inflammatory capacity compared to cyanidin-3-galactoside (C3Ga) in a study using cultured endothelial cells (Zhao et al., 2015). The function variation may lie in the difference of chemical structures that the hydroxyl group at the C4 position of the ring attached to cyanidin is equatorially oriented for glucoside but axial for galactoside (Ahmadi et al., 2017).

Concentrations of anthocyanins are closely related to fruit ripeness which also affects total phenolics and antioxidant capacity (Green & Mazza, 1986). Oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) assay indicated that berry fruit-derived anthocyanins significantly decreased intracellular peroxyl radical-induced oxidation in proportion to ripeness and storage period (Elisia et al., 2007; Kalt et al., 2003).

Health benefits of Saskatoon berries and anthocyanins

Saskatoon berries showed strong antioxidant capacity in previous research which reported that Saskatoon berry syrup significantly increased the antioxidant capacity of rooibos tea (Grant et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2005); however, the contributive components remained unidentified. A study, with a focus on structure, pointed out that components in glycoside form such as anthocyanins are more likely to reduce oxidative stress (Hu et al., 2005). This hypothesis was further supported by a human study using anthocyanin-containing fruit juice. In this study, consuming 750 mL of anthocyanin-

rich fruit juice for 55 days not only increased superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity but also reduced total DNA breaks, with other beneficial results such as a decrease in the low-density lipoprotein (LDL) (Bakuradze et al., 2019).

In addition to inhibiting oxidation, both Saskatoon berries and anthocyanins were found to suppress the growth of certain microorganisms. The activity of several microbial enzymes in *Enterococcus hirae*, such as α -amylase and α -glucosidase, can be inhibited by Saskatoon berries (Lachowicz, Wiśniewski, et al., 2019). And supplementation of anthocyanin-containing mixed berry extracts (blueberry, elderberry and wild bilberry) was found to inhibit the growth of *Helicobacter pylori* (Bagchi, 2004).

Other health-contributing effects found only in anthocyanins imply similar functions expected in Saskatoon berries. Research showed that intake of anthocyanins was reported to improve vision and alleviate metabolic syndrome-related symptoms (Turrini et al., 2017). Specifically, clinical study on visual function showed that consuming black currant anthocyanin at a daily dose of 50 mg improved dark adaption of the eyes (Nakaishi et al., 2000). And adding 11 g freeze-dried wild blueberry powder into the diet for over 28 days increased vascular dilation and decreased ambulatory systolic blood pressure (Rodriguez-Mateos et al., 2019).

Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus is a group of metabolic diseases mainly characterized by hyperglycemia due to insufficient production of insulin or insulin resistance by the body (Mellitus, 2005). Multimorbidity, defined as multiple health-affecting diseases cooccurring with diabetes in the same individual, may appear in the later stage if blood glucose is poorly-controlled. Diabetic complications may include heart disease, kidney failure and blindness, which can lead to a deteriorating life quality and a increasing mortality (Gijsen et al., 2001). The prevalence of diabetes has become a global public health burden with a growing number of people diagnosed with either diabetes or

prediabetes. Recent research using logistic regression model predicted that the world will have 693 million diabetic patients by 2045 with half of them undiagnosed (Cho et al., 2018).

Pathogenesis of diabetes

Based on pathogenesis, diabetes can be categorized into two types: type 1 diabetes and type 2 diabetes. These two types are disproportionally distributed, since type 2 diabetes accounts for 90% of global diabetes cases (Zheng et al., 2018). Type 1 diabetes is caused by impairment of insulin-producing pancreatic islet β cells due to attack from autoimmune antibodies. Although type 1 diabetes possibly occurs later in life, it more often starts from childhood or young adults with predisposing factors including genetics, infections and medical conditions. For example, individuals with variations of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) region on chromosome 6 have increased risk of autoimmunity, and mutations that cause changes in the insulin structure could lead to decreased affinity between receptors and insulin (Krischer et al., 2017). On the other hand, a different pathogenesis is attributed to the onset of type 2. Insulin resistance turns out to be the most symbolic feature in patients with type 2 diabetes which is characterized by reduced glucose uptake and utilization, regardless of how much insulin pancreatic islet β cells secret (Reaven, 2005; Reusch, 2002). The major risk factors for type 2 diabetes are unhealthy dietary habits and sedentary life styles (Astrup, 2001; Narayan et al., 2002; Sami et al., 2017). A large volume of experimental and clinical studies demonstrated that high fat and high sugar diets are closely associated with symptoms of type 2 diabetes: hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, insulin resistance and chronic inflammation (K. A. Kim et al., 2012; Panchal et al., 2011; Shoelson et al., 2006). However, diets with low fat and less carbohydrate reportedly reversed high fat and/or high sugar diets induced metabolic disorders (Arora & McFarlane, 2005; Samaha et al., 2003).

Insulin and insulin resistance

Insulin is a peptide hormone secreted by the pancreas when the islet β cells are

stimulated by endogenous or exogenous substances (DeFronzo, 1982). As the only hormone in the body that lowers plasma glucose level and promotes glucose transformation into advanced carbohydrate structure or other biological macromolecules, insulin evidently plays an important part in glucose metabolism (Mayer et al., 2007).

Skeletal muscles directly utilize glucose for energy expenditure and thus are sensitively affected by insulin concentration (Groop et al., 1989). In hepatocytes, gluconeogenesis was found to be inhibited by insulin (Dentin et al., 2007). And in adipocytes, insulin stimulates free fatty acid uptake, inhibits lipolysis and contributes to the de novo fatty acid synthesis (Morigny et al., 2016).

Once insulin resistance occurs, the uptake of plasma glucose starts to decrease in the skeletal muscle (Petersen & Shulman, 2002). Gluconeogenesis in the liver is enhanced with insulin resistance, leading to an elevated glucose level in the plasma (Bock et al., 2007). Insulin resistance in adipose tissue causes increased free fatty acids in the plasma, which in turn exacerbates insulin resistance due to fatty acids occupying insulin receptors on the cell membrane (Petersen & Shulman, 2002).

Inflammation

Inflammation in general is the response of the body tissue to external stimuli through immune system and often found enhanced in type 2 diabetes (Calle & Fernandez, 2012). Proinflammatory mediators induce chronic inflammation in which proinflammatory cytokines cause a series of intracellular signal transductions and cellular responses (Dinarello, 2000). For example, monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1) which attract monocytes to migrate and adhere to the inflammatory spots are increased in the activated monocytes and endothelium (Hartung et al., 2007). Those activated monocytes also generate superoxide radicals, causing the transformation of LDL into oxidized or glycated LDL. Furthermore, the oxidized or glycated LDL increase the production of inflammatory mediators such as plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) in vascular endothelial cells, which is considered as a factor that leads to the development of thrombosis (Zhao, Ren, et al., 2014).

Microbial community and gut microbiota

Microbial community is a collective of microorganisms that live closely together in the same environment (Fuhrman, 2009). Compared to individually isolated colonies, microbial community is a more universal and common form for microorganisms to perform functions in the environment (Kaeberlein et al., 2002; Singh, 2010). For example, marine microbial communities maintain the marine carbon, nitrogen and sulfur cycles (Fuhrman, 2009); soil microbial communities decompose organic matter and help form mycorrhiza (Marschner et al., 2003). Commonly studied microbial communities are from gut, mouth, skin, soil, active sludge and fermented food (Gibbons & Rinker, 2015; Kent & Triplett, 2002; Reid et al., 2011; Xia et al., 2018). Structural balance for a microbial community is possible to be maintained when conditions such as nutrients, oxygen contents, temperature and humidity remain unchanged (Shade et al., 2012).

The microbial community living in the intestine is gut microbiota. The human gut microbiota is called human 'second genome' due to 3.3 million genes (150 times more than human genes) found in the genomes of gut microbes (Grice & Segre, 2012; Zhu et al., 2010). Research revealed the metabolism-regulating roles of gut microbiota through a series of findings, pointing out that many chronic metabolic diseases, such as obesity and diabetes, are associated with altered gut microbiota (Fan & Pedersen, 2020). The composition of gut microbiota is not only changeable when exposed to a new environment but also has a resilient ability that allows it to recover (Shade et al., 2012).

Gut microbiota and diseases

Bacteroidetes (B), *Firmicutes* (F) and *Actinobacteria* are three dominant phyla that account for almost 80% of total gut microbiota in adults (Mariat et al., 2009). Difference in their proportions was often found between healthy individuals and those with metabolic syndromes, characterized by a lower B/F ratio in diabetic patients compared to lean individuals (Larsen et al., 2010). However, changes in gut microbiota were considered as a concomitant result rather than a contributive factor for a period of time until new research techniques, such as fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT), were applied to prove the role of gut microbiota (Alang & Kelly, 2015; Bakken et al., 2011; Smits et al., 2013). For example, research indicated that transplantation of gut bacteria from obese mice into lean germ-free mice could cause the occurrence of obesity in germ-free mice (Alang & Kelly, 2015).

Gut microbiota mechanism for diseases

Lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation is a widely accepted mechanism for the roles of gut microbiota in the development of metabolic syndromes (Manco et al., 2010; Sun et al., 2018). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is a structural component of the Gramnegative bacterial cell wall which impairs intestinal permeability and causes LPS to transfer across intestinal barrier into blood circulation (Guerville & Boudry, 2016). Research has found that high levels of plasma LPS were associated with endotoxemia-induced inflammation in individuals with obesity and type 2 diabetes (Cani et al., 2008).

Gut microbiota and diets

Components of diets and medicines alter the gut microbial profile by promoting or inhibiting the growth and metabolism of gut bacteria (Eid et al., 2017; Jia et al., 2008). Ingredients that were unable to be digested by the human body are possible to be utilized by gut bacteria (Chassard et al., 2012). Many berry-derived compounds that change gut microbiota profile may potentially attenuate the symptoms of metabolic syndromes for the host. For example, berberine, a unique compound in barberries with

a low absorbing rate in the human body, was found to improve diabetic symptoms as well as increase *Lachnospiraceae* and *Erysipelotrichidae* (Zhang et al., 2012).

The beneficial functions of Saskatoon berries and relevant mechanisms have not been fully explored. Previous research found that Saskatoon berries alleviated inflammation levels in db/db mice but did not decrease fasting plasma glucose in the same study (Zhao, Le, et al., 2014). Given that db/db genetic diabetic mice are caused by the deficiency of leptin receptor rather than high fat-high sugar diets for the majority of type 2 diabetes patients, the present study used a diet-induced mouse model. Specifically, high fat-high sucrose (HFHS) diet-induced obese and insulin resistant mice were used in this study to explore the effects of Saskatoon berries on both diabetes-related metabolic features and gut microbiota.

CHAPTER 2: HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES

Study Hypothesis

- Saskatoon berries have the ability to lower high fat-high sucrose (HFHS) dietinduced hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, insulin resistance and inflammation in mice.
- Cyanidin-3-glucoside (C3G), an anthocyanin in Saskatoon berries, is one of the key components that contribute to the anti-diabetic and anti-inflammatory effects of Saskatoon berries.
- 3. Those effects of Saskatoon berries and C3G are associated with the changes in the profile of gut microbiota.

Specific Objectives

- To explore the effects of Saskatoon berry powder (SBp) on glucose, lipids, insulin, insulin resistance, inflammatory markers and gut microbiota in HFHS dietinduced mice.
- 2. To identify the effective components in SBp by exploring the above effects of C3G and comparing those with SBp.
- 3. To explore the dose response of SBp on the above effects in the same animal model.

CHAPTER 3: METHODS AND RESULTS

Part 1: Effects of Saskatoon berry powder on high fat-high sucrose diet-induced insulin resistance and gut dysbiosis in mice

This is the first documented study on the effect of Saskatoon berries on glucose metabolism and gut microbiota in diet-induced obese and insulin resistant animals. The manuscript has been published on 'The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry' in 2019 (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2019.03.023). I was involved in data analysis of gut microbiota of this study and listed as the 4th author.

Methods and Materials

Preparation of Saskatoon berry powder

Saskatoon berries ('Smoky' cultivar) were obtained from Prairie Lane Saskatoon (Portage la Prairie, MB). Fresh berries were cleaned and dehydrated using a freezedryer, and then milled into powder which was subsequently stored at -20°C.

Diet preparation

Control low-fat diet (D12450K) was purchased from Research Diets (New Brunswick, NJ) containing 4.3% of fat, 19.2% of protein and 67.3% of carbohydrate without sucrose. HFHS (D12492) diet was also purchased from Research Diets (New Brunswick, NJ) containing 35% of fat, 26% of protein and 26% of carbohydrate containing 9% sucrose (w/w). SBp diet was made by adding 5% SBp (w/w) into HFHS diet, mixing and shaping into pellets with diameters of 2-3 cm.

Animal preparation

Twenty-four male C57 BL/6J mice at age of 6 weeks were purchased from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). Once arrived, they were housed in an air-conditioned room with regular day/night light cycle for stabilization for one week with regular

mouse chow and tap water.

Dietary experimental design

The mice were randomized into 3 groups. Each group had 8 mice with 4 mice in each cage. Control (CTL) group received D12450K diet. HFHS group received D12492 diet, and HFHS+SBp group receiving D12492 diet plus supplemented 5% SBp (w/w). All groups of mice received assigned diets and tap water ad libitum for 15 weeks. Food intake (per cage) and body weight (per mouse) were measured once a week. Overnight fasting was performed to avoid the fluctuation caused by food ingestion. Approximately 200 μ L of blood was collected from saphenous vein every 2-3 weeks for measurement of plasma biochemical indicators. The blood used for measuring lipids and inflammatory markers was withdrawn through the cardiac puncture under deep terminal anesthesia.

Measurement of biochemical indicators

The level of plasma glucose of each mouse was measured using Sekisui Diagnostics SL reagent kits (Charlottetown, PEI). Plasma insulin level was measured using enzymelinked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kits from EMD Millipore (Billerica, MA, USA, for insulin). Homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) was calculated based on the levels of fasting plasma insulin and glucose detected in simultaneously collected specimens using the following formula: fasting insulin concentration (μ U/mL) × fasting plasma glucose level (mmol/L)/22.5 (Miranda et al., 2018). Plasma cholesterol was measured using Sekisui Diagnostics SL cholesterol reagent kits (Charlottetown, PEI). Plasma triglyceride level was measured using BioAssay Systems reagents (Hayward, CA, USA).

Measurements of inflammatory markers

Inflammatory factors, including MCP-1, PAI-1 and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α)

were measured. Level of PAI-1 was assessed via enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) using kits for mouse PAI-1 from Oxford Biomedical Research (Oxford, MI), MCP-1 using kits for mouse MCP-1 from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, ON) and TNF-α using kits for mouse TNF-α from BD Bioscience (San Diego, CA).

Fecal sample collection and DNA extraction

Fecal pellets were collected in the morning from cages of individually hosted mice and the cages were changed at 4 pm of the previous day. DNA extraction was conducted using ZYMO Fecal DNA Extraction Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA). DNA was quantified through a NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). 27F (5'-GAAGAGTTTGATCATGGCTCAG-3') and 342R (5'-CTGCTGCCTCCCGTAG-3') were used as primers for polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification followed by 1% agarose gel electrophoresis to verify DNA amplicons.

16S rRNA sequencing

With primers of 338F (5'-ACTCCTACGGGAGGCAGCA-3') and 806R (5'-GGACTACHVGGGTWTCTAAT-3'), the V3-V4 region of 16S rRNA gene was targeted for PCR amplification. PCR reactions contained 1 μ L of pre-normalized 20ng/ μ L DNA, 1 μ L of primers (10 μ M) and 10 μ L of Prime Hot MasterMix (Thermo). Reactions started with an initial denaturing step at 94°C for 3 min followed by 30 cycles at 94°C for 45 sec, 62°C for 60 sec, and 72°C for 90 sec; finalized by an extension step at 72°C for 10 min. PCR products were then purified using a Zymo Research DNA Clean-up Kit (Zymo). An aliquot of 200 ng of each DNA sample was sequenced using established protocols on an Illumina MiSeq system in the Gut Microbiome Laboratory in the Department of Animal Science at the University of Manitoba.

Bioinformatics analysis and statistics

The output raw data were analyzed using downstream computational pipelines of the

open-source software package Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology (QIIME) version 1.9.0. Assembled reads were demultiplexed according to the barcode sequences and exposed to additional quality-filters and those with quality scores (Q-scores) below 20 were discarded. Chimeric reads were filtered using UCHIME and sequences were assigned to Operational Taxonomic Units (OTU) using UCLUST at 97% pairwise identity threshold. Taxonomies were assigned using Ribosomal Database Project classifier and aligned with the Greengenes Core reference database (gg_13_5). α -diversity analysis is to reveal diversity within community while β -diversity is to compare microbial compositions between samples. α -diversity was assessed through Shannon index and β -diversity was assessed through Bray–Curtis metric based on the abundances of species (without considering the relatedness of species) to compare microbial compositions between samples. Normal distribution was assessed through Anderson-Darling test, followed by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Tukey's HSD was used in post hoc test.

Results

Effects of SBp on body weights, food intake, plasma glucose, cholesterol and triglycerides

Increases in fasting plasma glucose were detected in mice in the HFHS group for \geq 7 weeks compared to the control group for corresponding periods (P<.01). The HFHS+SBp diet reduced fasting plasma glucose in mice after \geq 7 weeks of intervention compared to the HFHS diet (P<.05 or .01) (Figure 3-1-1 A). Mice in both HFHS group and HFHS+SBp group had significant increases in body weight compared to the control group. However, no significant difference in body weight between HFHS group and HFHS+SBp group was observed (Figure 3-1-1 B). And food intake of all groups fluctuated without significant difference (Figure 3-1-1 C). HFHS diet increased the levels of both total cholesterol and triglycerides in the mouse fasting plasma before the end of the dietary intervention compared to the control diet. HFHS+SBp group significantly reduced the levels of plasma cholesterol and triglycerides compared to the

HFHS diet alone (P<.01) (Figure 3-1-2).

Effects of SBp on insulin and HOMA-IR

Significant increases were observed in the levels of plasma insulin of mice fed with the HFHS diet for \geq 13 weeks compared to control diet-fed mice (P<.05 or .01). However, the HFHS+SBp diet reduced the levels of insulin in mice after \geq 9 weeks compared to HFHS diet-fed mice (P<.05 or .01). Besides, the HFHS diet also increased HOMA-IR compared to the control diet after \geq 9 weeks (P<.05 or .01), while HFHS+SBp diet significantly reduced HOMA-IR compared to HFHS diet after 11 weeks of dietary intervention (P<.05 or .01) (Figure 3-1-3).

Effects of SBp on inflammatory markers

The plasma levels of inflammatory markers, including MCP-1, PAI-1 and TNF α , were higher in HFHS-fed mice than control diet fed mice (P<.01). However, the increases in the inflammatory markers in the circulation of mice induced by the HFHS diet were significantly suppressed by the addition of 5% SBp (P<.01) (Figure 3-1-4).

Effects of SBp on gut microbiota

As is shown in Figure 3-1-5, the HFHS diet increased the Shannon index, a common index for α -diversity of gut microbiota, compared to the control diet. However, the HFHS+SBp group had a higher level of Shannon index compared to that in the HFHS group (Figure 3-1-5 A). The β -diversity result demonstrated that the compositions of gut microbiota in three groups were well separated, suggesting that the three diets caused distinct profiles of gut microbiota (Figure 3-1-5 B).

Bacteroidetes and *Firmicutes* represented two major bacteria on phylum level in mouse feces. Although HFHS diet did not significantly alter the relative abundance of *Firmicutes* compared to the control or HFHS+SBp diet, it reduced that of *Bacteroidetes* compared to the control diet (Figure 3-1-6 and Table 3-1-1). The relative abundance of *Bacteroidetes* phylum in the HFHS+SBp diet (16%) was not significantly different from the other two groups (Table 3-1-1). In terms of *Actinobacteria*, the relative abundance in both HFHS and HFHS+SBp groups was greater than that in the control group, with HFHS+SBp group having a higher level than HFHS group (Figure 3-1-6 and Table 3-1-1).

On family level, the HFHS diet decreased the relative abundances of *S24-7*, *Lactobacillaceae*, *Peptostreptococcaceae*, and *Clostridiaceae*, but increased those of *Ruminococcaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Coriobacteriaceae* and *Mogibacteriaceae* compared to the control diet. The HFHS+SBp diet significantly decreased the relative abundance of *Lactobacillaceae* compared to the control diet and increased that of *Ruminococcaceae*, *Dehalobacteriaceae* and *Coriobacteriaceae* compared to the HFHS group. Although HFHS+SBp increased the relative abundance of *S24-7* compared to HFHS group, no significant difference was detected between the two groups (Figure 3-1-7 and Table 3-1-2).

Correlations of gut bacteria with physiochemical results

Correlations between bacterial families and physiochemical results in the mice were analyzed in terms of body weights, fasting plasma glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides, insulin, HOMA-IR, TNF- α , PAI-1 or MCP-1. The relative abundance of *S24-7* in the stool of mice was negatively correlated with all the studied physiochemical variables, which suggested that the higher level of *S24-7* was associated with lower levels of glucose, lipids, inflammatory markers and body weight in the mice. Positive correlations between bacteria and physiochemical variables also existed. Those bacteria included *Lachnospiraceae*, *Streptococaceae* and *Peptococaceae* (Figure 3-1-8).

Phylum bacteria	CTL (%)	HFHS (%)	HFHS +SBp(%)	HFHS vs. CTL	HFHS +SBp vs. CTL	HFHS +SBp vs. HFHS
Others	29.08	6.4	1.06	**	**	
Spirochaetes	0	0	0.003			
Proteobacteria	0.29	0.23	0.03			
Firmicutes	47.72	82.17	81.27			
Bacteroidetes	22.68	10.24	16.26	**		
Actinobacteria	0.23	0.96	1.36	**	**	++

Table 3-1-1 Impact of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on the abundances of bacteria on phylum level in the mouse gut. Values in the tables were expressed as averages (%, n=6-8). *, **: P<.05 or 0.01 vs. CTL group; +, ++: P<.05 or 0.01 vs. HFHS group.

Family bacteria	Control (%)	HFHS (%)	HFHS+ SBp (%)	HFHS vs. CTL	HFHS +SBp vs. CTL	HFHS +SBp vs. HFHS
Veillonellaceae	0.004	0.001	0.001			
Streptococcaceae	0.23	1.64	1.48	**	**	
Staphylococcaceae	0.001	0.02	0.008			
Spirochaetaceae	0	0	0.003			
S24-7	21.14	10.05	14.64	**	*	
Ruminococcaceae	3.53	11.37	14.7	**	**	+
Rikenellaceae	0.21	0.12	0.24			
RF16	0.001	0.001	0			
Prevotellaceae	0.008	0.01	0.005			
Peptostreptococcaceae	0.004	0	0	*	*	
Peptococcaceae	0	0.04	0.03			
Lactobacillaceae	31.30	24.11	11.46	*		
Lachnospiraceae	3.16	15.69	16.65	**	**	
Erysipelotrichaceae	0.003	0	0			
Enterococcaceae	0.003	0.008	0.004			
Dehalobacteriaceae	0.07	0.10	0.18		*	+
Coriobacteriaceae	0.23	0.96	1.36	**	**	++
Clostridiaceae	4.15	0.63	0.30	**	**	
Bacteroidaceae	1.26	0.005	1.30			
Alcaligenaceae	0.29	0.23	0.03			
Paraprevotellaceae	0.001	0.004	0.002			
Mogibacteriaceae	0.08	0.48	0.56	**	**	
Others	34.33	34.53	37.05			

Table 3-1-2 Impact of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on the abundances of bacteria on family level in the mouse gut. Values in the tables were expressed as averages (%, n=6-8). *, **: P<.05 or .01 vs. CTL group; +, ++: P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-1-1 Fasting plasma glucose, body weight and food intake in mice fed with HFHS diet or HFHS+SBp diet. A: Fasting plasma glucose every 2–3 weeks expressed in mean \pm standard deviation (SD) (n=8/group). B: Body weight expressed in mean \pm SD. C: Food intake of mice/cage (n=4/cage) was presented in average (g) of two cages/group. *, ** P<.05 or .01 vs. CTL group; +, ++ P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS+SBp group.



Figure 3-1-2 Effects of HFHS and HFHS+SBp on cholesterol and triglycerides in mice. The levels of fasting plasma cholesterol and triglycerides were analyzed at the 15th week after the initiation of the dietary experiment. Values were expressed in mean \pm SD (n=8/group). *, **P<.05 or .01 vs. CTL group; +, ++P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-1-3 Effects of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on insulin and insulin resistance in mice. A: Insulin. B: HOMA-IR. The levels of fasting plasma insulin (ng/mL) were measured at \geq 7 weeks after the start of the dietary intervention every 2 weeks using mouse insulin ELISA kit. Values were expressed in mean ± SD (n=8/group). *, **P<.05 or .01 vs. CTL group; +, ++P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS+SBp group.



Figure 3-1-4 Effects of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on inflammatory markers in mouse plasma. Values were expressed in mean \pm SD (n=8/group). *, **P<.05 or .01 vs. CTL group; +, ++P<.05 or 0.01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-1-5 Impact of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on the diversity of intestinal microbiota in mice. A: Shannon diversity Index for α -diversity; B: Principal coordinates analysis (PCA) based on Bray–Curtis dissimilarity for β -diversity.


Figure 3-1-6 The effects of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on the abundance of gut bacteria on phylum level.



Figure 3-1-7 The effects of HFHS and HFHS+SBp diets on the abundance percentage of gut bacteria on family level.



Figure 3-1-8 Correlations between the abundances of family-level gut bacteria and body weight, metabolic variables or inflammatory markers. Blue: positive correlations; red: negative correlations. The darkness of color in the squares represented the strength of correlation as indicated in the legend. The significances of correlation were displayed with *, **, ***P<.05, .01 or .001 (n=21).

Part 2: Effects of cyanidin-3-glucoside on high-fat high-sucrose diet-induced insulin resistance and gut dysbiosis in mice

In the subsequent dietary experiment, we examined the effect of a major anthocyanin in Saskatoon berry powder, cyanidin-3-glucoside (C3G), on glucose, lipids, inflammatory markers and gut microbiota. The manuscript has been published online on 'Microorganisms' in 2020 (https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8081238). I was involved in animal experiments, sample collection, microbiota data analysis and manuscript draft and listed as the first author in the article.

Materials and methods

Dietary Intervention

A total of 32 male C57BL/6J mice (6 weeks of age) were randomized into 4 groups with 8 mice in each group after stabilization. The control, HFHS and HFHS+SBp groups received the same diets described in Part 1. C3G was obtained from Polyphenols (Sandnes, Norway). HFHS+C3G diet was made by adding equivalent-to- 5% SBp amount of C3G into HFHS diet. Specifically, SBp group received HFHS diet supplemented with 8 g/kg/day of SBp (5% SBp) and C3G group received HFHS diet supplemented with 7.2 mg/kg/day of C3G, which equal to the amount of C3G contained in 8 g/kg/day of SBp. Mice had access to food and distilled water *ad libitum* during 11-week dietary intervention.

Food intake and body weight

Food intake of 24 hours in each cage was measured every 2 weeks. Body weight of each mouse was also recorded every two weeks during the experiment.

Blood collection

Blood was collected as described in Part 1 for the measurement of biochemical indicators.

Diabetes-related biochemical parameters

The plasma levels of fasting plasma glucose, insulin, cholesterol and triglyceride were measured using the same kits as described in Part 1. HOMA-IR was still calculated using the measured data from fasting plasma insulin and glucose.

Measurement of Inflammatory markers

The plasma levels of inflammatory markers were measured using the same kits as described in Part 1.

Fecal sample collection

In order to collect feces of individual mouse, each mouse was transferred into a new cage and housed independently overnight, followed by carefully collecting fecal pallets from each cage. All the fecal samples were stored at -80°C and kept frozen until subsequent DNA extraction.

DNA extraction and sequencing

The target region of 16S rDNA was switched to V4-V5 region due to service option. Differences also included kits and methods used for DNA extraction and amplification. DNA extraction and 16S rRNA gene sequencing of fecal samples were submitted to Integrative Microbiome Resource in Dalhousie University for subsequent experiments.

DNA extraction was achieved using PowerFecal DNA Isolation Kit (QIAGEN, Germantown, MD). DNA was quantified using a NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific). Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed on DNA samples using modified primers containing 515F(5'-GTGYCAGCMGCCGCGGTAA-3') and 926R(5'-CCGYCAATTYMTTTRAGTTT-3') targeting 16S rDNA V4-V5 region. Modified primers were composed of three regions: Illumina adaptors, indices and primers targeting V4-V5 region. A high-throughput Hamilton Nimbus Select robot

using Coastal Genomics Analytical Gels was run to verify the quality of PCR products visually. Failed amplicons with spurious bands were repeatedly amplified after modifying conditions for PCR until qualified bands were produced. The PCR amplicons were normalized by using a high-throughput Charm Biotech Just-a-Plate 96-well Normalization Kit, then pooled to construct a library and quantified before sequencing on an Illumina MiSeq platform.

Bioinformatic analysis and statistics

Freshly generated raw data in the form of fastq file were demultiplexed according to the barcode sequences, followed by trimmed using Cutadapt (version 1.17) for primers to be remove from reads. Trimmed reads were imported into an open-source bioinformatics pipeline of decentralized microbiome analysis package: Quantitative Insights Into Microbial Ecology 2 (QIIME2, version: 2018. 8). After joining of pairedend reads and filtering out of low-quality reads, amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) were obtained through DADA2 workflow. Taxonomies were assigned to ASVs using a Naive-Bayes approach and SILVA database. Diversity metrics (Core-metricsphylogenetic) within QIIME2 were used for evaluating α -diversity and β -diversity. Average and standard deviation of physiological (food intake and body weight) and biochemical (glucose, cholesterol, triglyceride, insulin, HOMA-IR) values were calculated. Normal distribution was assessed through three methods: Shapiro-Wilk test, Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and Anderson-Darling test, followed by one-way ANOVA. Tukey's HSD was also used this time in post hoc test. Relative abundances of ASVs assigned with taxonomy in feature table were correlated with physical and clinical parameters using Pearson correlation. Metagenomic functions were predicted with the Galaxy web application and Phylogenetic Investigation of Communities by Reconstruction of Unobserved States (PICRUSt).

Results

Body weight and food intake

All mice involved in the study began with similar body weights (approximately 23 g) during stabilization. Body weights in all groups kept increasing until the end of dietary intervention at 11th week. Body weights in the 3 groups of mice receiving HFHS diet were significantly greater than mice receiving CTL diet after \geq 2 weeks of dietary intervention (P<.05 or .01). No significant difference in body weight were found among mice in the HFHS, SBp or C3G groups (Figure 3-2-1 A). Food intake in mass among four groups fluctuated but was not significantly different during the dietary experiment (Figure 3-2-1 B).

Effects of C3G and SBp on glucose, cholesterol and triglycerides

Fasting plasma glucose levels in HFHS group was significantly higher than that in the control group (P<.01). Mice receiving HFHS diet supplemented with SBp or C3G had significantly lower levels of plasma glucose compared to those fed with HFHS diet alone (P<.05 or .01). However, their glucose levels were still significantly higher than those in the control group (P<.01). No significant difference in plasma glucose was found between SBp and C3G group (Figure 3-2-2). Similar patterns of changes were detected in fasting plasma cholesterol and triglycerides of mice fed with HFHS diet, HFHS+SBp or HFHS+C3G diet compared to mice in CTL group (Figure 3-2-2).

Effects of C3G and SBp on insulin and HOMA-IR

Results of both fasting plasma insulin and HOMA-IR showed that the control group had the lowest levels of plasma insulin concentration and insulin resistance. The levels of plasma insulin and HOMA-IR in HFHS group were significantly higher than the other three groups (P<.01). Supplementation of SBp or C3G significantly reduced the increase in the levels of plasma insulin and HOMA-IR in mice induced by HFHS diet (P<.01). No significant difference in insulin or HOMA-IR was detected in mice fed

with HFHS+SBp or HFHS+C3G diet (P<.01) (Figure 3-2-3).

The results of plasma concentrations of inflammatory markers showed the HFHS group had the highest levels of MCP-1 and PAI-1 compared to other 3 groups (P<.01). However, supplementation of SBp or C3G significantly reduced the two inflammatory markers in mice compared to mice exclusively fed with HFHS diet. No significant difference was detected in mice fed with HFHS diet containing either SBp or C3G (Figure 3-2-4).

Effects of C3G and SBp on gut microbiota

The results of β -diversity demonstrated that the gut microbiota in the four dietary groups were well separated (Figure 3-2-5). Comparison of the relative abundance showed *Bacteroidetes* in mice fed with HFHS diets was significantly lower than that in mice fed with either SBp or C3G diet (P<.01) (Figure 3-2-6 A). Meanwhile, *Firmicutes* in the HFHS group showed a significantly higher relative abundance compared to the other three groups (P<.01) (Figure 3-2-6 B). With an addition of either SBp or C3G into the HFHS diet tended to increase the abundance of *Bacteroidetes* and decreased the levels of *Firmicutes* (P<.01 or .05). Besides the relative abundance, the control group and HFHS group also significantly differed in ratios of B/F and F/B. Group receiving SBp had a significantly increase in B/F ratio (P<.05) and a lowered F/B ratio compared to the HFHS group (P<.01). Mice receiving C3G had a higher but not significant different B/F ratio and significantly lower F/B ratio (P<.01) compared to the HFHS group (Figure 3-2-6).

Relative abundance analysis of family bacteria demonstrated that several families of bacteria, including *Akkermansiaceae*, *Bacteroidaceae*, *Erysipelotrichaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Lactobacillaceae*, *Muribaculaceae* and *Ruminococcaceae*, predominated in the gut microbiota structure. Mice fed with HFHS diet had a different microbial profile with an increase in abundances of *Erysipelotrichaceae*,

Lachnospiraceae and Peptostreptococcaceae but a decrease in the abundance of Muribaculaceae (S24-7) compared to mice in the other three groups. In spite of low abundances in microbial profiles for certain bacteria, such Atopobiaceae, Clostridiaceae 1 and Clostridiales vadinBB60 group, ANOVA results revealed those significant difference among mice fed with different diets. The correlation result showed that Defluviitaleaceae, Eggerthellaceae, Erysipelotrichaceae, Lachnospiraceae and Peptostreptococcaeae were mainly positively correlated with the biochemical variables, while Clostridiaceae 1, Clostridiales vadinBB60 group, *Muribaculaceae* and *Lactobacillaceae* were negatively correlated with those variables. The relative abundance of *Muribaculaceae* was the lowest in mice fed with HFHS diet but the highest in control group. Both SBp and C3G significantly increased the level of Muribaculaceae, with HFHS+SBp group having an even higher level of *Muribaculaceae* than that in HFHS+C3G group (Figure 3-2-7).

The correlation heatmap demonstrated the existence of association between the relative abundance of family bacteria and some diabetes-related biochemical parameters. The abundances of *Defluviitaleaceae*, *Eggerthellaceae*, *Erysipelotrichaceae*, *Family XIII*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Peptpcoccaceae*, *Peptostreptococcaeae*, *Rununococcaceae* and *Streptococcaceae* family bacteria were positively correlated with body weight, glucose/lipid metabolism and inflammatory markers in the mice, while *Akkermansiaceae*, *Clostridiaceae* 1, *Clostridiales vadinBB60 group*, *Muribaculaceae* and *Lactobacillaceae* were negatively correlated with the physical, metabolic and inflammatory variables (Fig. 3-2-8).

In order to further examine relationships between gut bacteria and glucose metabolism, linear regression plots for selected bacterial families and fasting plasma glucose, insulin and HOMA-IR were displayed (Figure 3-2-9). *Akkermansiaceae* and *Muribaculaceae* were two families that were negatively associated with T2D-related biochemical variables in the correlation heatmap (Figure 3-2-8). Mice receiving the control diet had

the highest abundances of *Akkermansiaceae* and *Muribaculaceae*, while mice receiving HFHS diet had the lowest levels of *Akkermansiaceae* and *Muribaculaceae*. The relative abundances of *Akkermansiaceae* and *Muribaculaceae* in HFHS+SBp or HFHS+C3G group again showed negative correlations with the two groups partially overlapping with HFSH group (Figure 3-2-9 A-F). On the other hand, the relative abundance of *Lachnospiraceae* had positive correlations with T2D-related biochemical variables in the correlation heatmap (Figure 3-3-8). The control group had the lowest abundance of *Lachnospiraceae*, while the HFHS group had the highest abundance of this family. And the level of *Lachnospiraceae* decreased with the supplementation of SBp or C3G in HFHS diet (Figure 3-2-9 G-I).

The comparison between SBp and C3G showed that they have a similar effect on some bacteria, such as *Muribaculaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae* and *Erysipelotrichaceae*. *Muribaculaceae* was the family increased by both SBp and C3G, while both SBp and C3G lowered *Erysipelotrichaceae*. The relative abundance of *Lachnospiraceae* was significantly lowered by both SBp and C3G groups, while *Ruminococcaceae* was found significantly different between HFHS and SBp groups (Figure 3-2-10). The relative abundance of *Ruminococcaceae* in HFHS group was significantly higher than that in HFHS+SBp group. However, no significant difference was detected on *Ruminococcaceae* abundance between HFHS and C3G groups. Overall, C3G had the potential to shape the gut microbiota profile in a similar way as SBp. Both significantly increased *Muribaculaceae* and decreased *Erysipelotrichaceae* and *Lachnospiraceae*.

Function prediction by PICRUSt showed that pathways related to multiple cellular and metabolic processes differed among the four groups. At least two types of distribution patterns were found. In the pathways with the first pattern, mice in the HFHS group showed the highest level of activity among 4 groups. The supplementation of SBp or C3G inhibited the activation of those pathways caused by HFHS diet. Examples of this pattern included membrane transport, cell motility and transcription. In the pathways

with the second pattern, mice in the HFHS group showed the lowest level of activity among the 4 groups, while adding SBp or C3G groups activated those pathways which included amino acid metabolism, glycan biosynthesis and metabolism, lipid metabolism and energy metabolism (Figure 3-2-11).



Figure 3-2-1 Effects of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on the body weight and food intake of mice. A: Body weight. B: Daily food intake. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 8/group). *, **: P<.05 or .01 HFHS group vs. CTL group, +, ++: P<.05 or .01 SBp group vs. CTL group, ^, ^: P<.05 or .01 C3G group vs CTL group.



Figure 3-2-2 Levels of glucose, cholesterol and triglycerides in plasma of mice fed with HFHS diets supplemented with or without SBp or C3G. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 8/group). *, **: P<.05 or .01 vs. CTL group, +, ++: P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-2-3 Effects of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on insulin and insulin resistance in mice. A: Insulin. B: HOMA-IR. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 8/group). *, **: P<.05 or .01 vs. CTL group, +, ++: P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-2-4 Effects of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on inflammatory markers. A: MCP-1. B: PAI-1. The values were expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 8/group). *, **: P<.05 or .01 vs. CTL group, +, ++: P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-2-5 Effect of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on β -diversity of gut microbiota in mice. PCA was based on Bray–Curtis dissimilarities between all sample sets.



Figure 3-2-6 Effects of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on the relative abundance of *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes*. A: Relative abundance of *Bacteroidetes*. B: Relative abundance (%) of *Firmicutes* C: Ratio of *Bacteroidetes* over *Firmicutes* (B/F). D: Ratio of *Firmicutes* over *Bacteroidetes* (F/B). The values were expressed as mean \pm SD g (n = 8/group). *, **: P<.05 or .01 vs. CTL group, +, ++: P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-2-7 Effect of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G on the relative abundance of gut microbiota on family level. Results of ANOVA and post-hoc (Tukey) test were presented. *, **: P<.05 or .01 for overall ANOVA result; •: P<.05 for HFHS group vs. CTL group (H/CTL); •: P<.05 for SBp group vs. CTL group (S/CTL); \blacktriangle : P<.05 for C3G group vs. CTL group (C3G/CTL); \circ : P<.05 in SBp group vs. HFHS group (S/H); \Box : P<.05 for C3G group vs. HFHS group (C3G/H); \triangle : P<.05 for C3G group vs. HFHS group (C3G/S).



Figure 3-2-8 Correlations between the abundances of gut bacteria and body weight, metabolic variables or inflammatory markers. Blue: positive correlations. Red: negative correlations. The darkness of color in the squares represented the strength of correlation as indicated in the legend. The significances of correlation were displayed with *, **, ***P<.05, .01 or .001 (n=32).



Figure 3-2-9 Linear regression analysis of correlation between the relative abundance of three families and three key diabetes-related indicators. A-C: Correlation between the relative abundance of *Akkermansiaceae* with glucose, insulin and HOMA-IR, respectively. D-F: Correlation between the relative abundance of *Muribaculaceae* with glucose, insulin and HOMA-IR, respectively. G-I: Correlation between the relative abundance of *Lachnospiraceae* with glucose, insulin and HOMA-IR, respectively. (n=32).



Figure 3-2-10 Comparison of the effects of SBp and C3G on HFHS-induced gut microbiota profiles. A: Extended error bar plot (STAMP tool) showing difference in mean relative abundance between SBp group and HFHS group. B: Extended error bar plot (STAMP tool) showing difference in mean relative abundance between C3G group and HFHS group.



Figure 3-2-11 Function prediction of HFHS diet supplemented with or without SBp or C3G through PICRUSt. Differences in relative abundance (%) in metabolic pathways among four groups were in the form of bar plot. Values were expressed as averages (n=8/group). *, **: P<.05 or .01 showing ANOVA result among four groups.

Part 3: Dose-response of Saskatoon berry powder on high-fat high-sucrose dietinduced insulin resistance and gut dysbiosis in mice

Our previous study found that 5% SBp inhibited HFHS diet-induced hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, insulin resistance and altered gut microbiota composition in male C57 BL/6J mice (Huang et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2019). Since the dose-response of SBp supplemented in HFHS diet on glucose or lipid metabolism has not been documented, we examined the effects of HFHS diet supplemented with 1% and 2.5% of SBp on glucose, lipids, insulin resistance and gut microbiota in mice in the following experiment. In this part, I was involved in animal experiments, sample collection and microbiota data analysis.

Material and method

Dietary Intervention

A total of 32 male C57 BL/6J mice (6 weeks of age) were obtained from Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME). After arrival, the mice were housed and stabilized as described above. Mice were randomized into 4 groups (n=8/group) for following diets: control group fed with D12450K low-fat diet; HFHS group with D12492 HFHS diet; 1% SBp group fed with HFHS diet supplemented with 1% SBp (w/w); 2.5% SBp group fed with HFHS diet supplemented with 2.5% SBp (w/w). Mice had access to food and distilled water *ad libitum* during 11-week dietary intervention.

Food intake and body weight

Food intake and body weight were measured as described in Part 2.

Blood collection

Blood was collected as described in Part 1 for the measurement of biochemical indicators.

Diabetes-related biochemical parameters

The plasma levels of fasting glucose, insulin, cholesterol and triglycerides were measured using the commercial assay kits as described in Part 1. HOMA-IR was calculated using the measured data from fasting plasma insulin and glucose as described in part 1.

Measurement of Inflammatory markers

The plasma levels of inflammatory markers were also measured using the same kits as described in Part 1.

Fecal sample collection

Fecal samples were collected as described in Part 2.

DNA extraction and sequencing

DNA was extracted and sequenced as described in Part 2.

Bioinformatic analysis and statistics

Sequence data generated were analyzed using the same pipeline and statistical methods described in Part 2.

Results

Effects of 1% and 2.5% SBp on plasma levels of glucose, cholesterol and triglycerides

Fasting plasma glucose levels were different among the four groups. Mice fed with HFHS diet had the highest level of glucose, while mice in control group had the lowest glucose level among all groups. Mice received 1% SBp had a significantly lower level of glucose compared to those fed with HFHS diet only (P<.01). The level of glucose

was further decreased in mice treated with 2.5% SBp; however, no significant difference was found between 1% and 2.5% SBp groups. The changes in the levels of cholesterol and triglycerides in fasting plasma among the 4 groups had a similar pattern as that for glucose. The HFHS group had the highest levels of cholesterol or triglycerides among the 4 groups, and control group had the lowest. Plasma levels of cholesterol and triglycerides in both 1% SBp and 2.5% SBp group were significantly lower than HFHS group with no significant difference detected between 1% SBp group and 2.5% SBp group (Figure 3-3-1).

Effects of 1% SBp and 2.5% SBp on insulin and HOMA-IR

The control group had the lowest levels of plasma insulin concentration and HOMA-IR. And the plasma insulin level in the HFHS group was significantly higher than the other three groups. The supplementation of 1% or 2.5 % SBp in HFHS diet significantly reduced plasma insulin compared to mice fed with HFHS diet alone. The level of HOMA-IR in the HFHS group was the highest among four groups. A significant decrease in HOMA-IR was detected in mice fed with diet containing either 1% or 2.5% SBp compared to mice receiving HFHS diet alone (P<.01) Figure 3-3-2).

Effects of 1% and 2.5% SBp on levels of inflammatory markers

The result indicated that the control group mice had the lowest levels of inflammation based on their lowest levels of MCP-1 and PAI-1 compared to other 3 groups. The addition of 1% or 2.5 % SBp to HFHS diet significantly reduced the two inflammatory markers compared to mice exclusively fed with HFHS diet. No significant difference was detected between 1% SBp group and 2.5% SBp (Figure 3-3-3).

Effects of 1% and 2.5% SBp on gut microbiota

The β -diversity showed that groups were separate well except for the HFHS group and 1% SBp group, in which around half dots in each group were overlapped (Figure 3-3-4). On phylum level, microbial composition was dominantly constituted by

Bacteroidetes and *Firmicutes* in the gut of the mice from all four groups. Opposite to the control group, mice fed with HFHS diet had a microbial community with a low level of *Bacteroidetes* and a high level of *Firmicutes*. Addition with either 1% SBp or 2.5% SBp into HFHS diet did not significantly increase the abundance of *Bacteroidetes* or decrease the level of *Firmicutes*. The control group and HFHS group also significantly differed in the ratios. However, Groups with 1% or 2.5% SBp did not show any significant change in the ratios compared to HFHS group (Figure 3-3-5).

Relative abundance analysis showed that several bacteria, including *Akkermansiaceae*, *Bacteroidaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Lactobacillaceae*, *Muribaculaceae* and *Ruminococcaceae*, predominated in the gut microbiota profiles. Mice fed with HFHS diet had a different microbial profile with higher relative abundances in *Bacteroidaceae*, *Lachnospiraceae*, *Lactobacillaceae* and lower relative abundances in *Muribaculaceae*, compared to control group. Adding 1% SBp or 2.5% SBp to HFHS diet increased the *Lachnospiraceae*, *Muribaculaceae* and *Ruminococcaceae* compared to the HFHS diet alone. However, the relative abundances of those family bacteria in mice receiving SBp were not significantly different from the mice fed with HFHS diet alone (Figure 3-3-6).

The relative abundance of *Muribaculaceae* was a key bacterial family upregulated by SBp or C3G supplementation in HFHS-fed mice (Part 1 and Part 2). In the study on the dose-response of SBp, *Muribaculaceae*, negatively correlated with fasting plasma glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides, insulin, HOMA-IR and MCP-1 when control group was included (P<.01). The results were consistent with the previous experiments, and suggested that *Muribaculaceae/S24-7* may be a family of bacteria targeted by SBp (Figure 3-3-7).

Comparison of effects of 1%, 2.5% and 5% SBp supplemented into HFHS diets

Exclusive HFHS group had the highest relative increase in plasma glucose compared to control group (about 40% increase), while the other three groups with SBp added

(HFHS+1% SBp and HFHS+2.5% SBp from part 3, and HFHS+5% SBp from part 1) had significantly lower relative changes in plasma glucose (P<.01), with no significant difference detected among groups (Figure 3-3-8 A). Exclusive HFHS diet had the highest relative change in insulin among groups. Compared to HFHS+1% SBp and HFHS+2.5% SBp, HFHS+5% SBp had a significant lower relative change (P<.01) in plasma insulin level (Figure 3-3-8 B). HFHS+5% SBp group also had a lower relative change in HOMA-IR compared to HFHS and HFHS+1% SBp groups (P<.01), while no significant difference was found between HFHS+2.5% SBp and HFHS+5% SBp (Figure 3-3-8 C).

The linear regression results showed significant negative correlations between relative changes of insulin and the relative abundance of *Muribaculaceae* in mice treated with HFHS diet supplemented with different dosages of SBp (P<.01). The significant negative correlations were also found in the relative changes of HOMA-IR (P<.05). However, the relative change of glucose showed the tendency of negative correlation with the relative abundance of *Muribaculaceae* but the correlation was not significant (P>.05). Significantly negative correlation between *Muribaculaceae* and insulin or HOMA-IR in the mice implied a potential causal role of *Muribaculaceae* in the reduction of insulin resistance in mice receiving SBp-containing HFHS diet (Figure 3-3-9).



Figure 3-3-1 Levels of glucose, cholesterol and triglycerides in plasma of mice fed with HFHS diets supplemented 1% or 2.5% SBp. Values were expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 8/group). *, **: P<.05 or 01 vs. CTL group; +, ++: P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-3-2 Effects of HFHS diets supplemented with 1% or 2.5% SBp on insulin and insulin resistance in mice. A: Insulin. B: HOMA-IR. Values were expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 8/group). *, **: P<.05 or 01 vs. CTL group; +, ++: P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-3-3 Levels of inflammatory markers in the plasma of mice receiving the HFHS diet supplemented with 1% or 2.5% SBp. A: MCP-1. B: PAI-1. Values were expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 8/group). *, **: P<.05 or 01 vs. CTL group; +, ++: P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-3-4 Effect of the HFHS diet supplemented with 1% or 2.5% SBp on β -diversity in mice. The PCA analysis was based on Bray–Curtis dissimilarities between all sample sets.



Figure 3-3-5 Effects of HFHS diet supplemented with 1% or 2.5% SBp on the relative abundance of *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes*. A: Relative abundance (%) of *Bacteroidetes* in gut microbial composition. B: Relative abundance (%) of *Firmicutes* in gut microbial composition. C: Ratio of B/F in gut microbiota. D: Ratio of F/B in gut microbiota. Values were expressed as mean \pm SD (%) (n = 8/group). *, **: P<.05 or 01 vs. CTL group; +, ++: P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS group.



Figure 3-3-6 Effect of HFHS diet supplemented with 1% or 2.5% SBp on the relative abundance of gut microbiota on family level.



Figure 3-3-7 Linear regression analysis of correlations between the relative abundance of *Muribaculaceae* and metabolic variables or inflammatory markers in plasma of the studied mice. A: Glucose. B: Cholesterol. C: Triglyceride. D: Insulin. E: HOMA-IR, and F: MCP-1 (n=32).



Figure 3-3-8 Comparison of relative changes in glucose, insulin and HOMA-IR of HFHS group, HFHS+1% SBp group, HFHS+2.5% SBp group and HFHS+5% SBp group. Relative changes were calculated by comparison to the control group in the corresponding study part. A: Relative change of glucose B: Relative change of insulin C: Relative change of HOMA. Values were expressed as mean \pm SD (n = 8/group). *, **: P<.05 or 01 vs. HFHS group; +, ++: P<.05 or .01 vs. HFHS+1%SBp group; ^, ^^: P<.05 or 01 vs. HFHS+2.5%SBp group.



Figure 3-3-9 Linear regression analysis of correlation between the relative abundance of *Muribaculaceae* and relative changes of glucose, insulin and HOMA-IR, respectively. A: Glucose. B: Insulin. C: HOMA-IR.
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION

Major novel findings of the studies

This study originally demonstrated that the supplementation of 1-5% of freeze-dried SBp through oral administration effectively reduced the levels of key metabolic markers for T2D, including fasting plasma glucose, insulin resistance, cholesterol and triglycerides in HFHS diet-induced obese and insulin resistant mice. The intake of SBp also attenuated the levels of inflammatory markers in the plasma. Those findings indicate that SBp can improve metabolic and inflammatory status in people with high risks of type 2 diabetes as a functional food.

This is also the first project that explored the impact of Saskatoon berry on gut microbiota. The PCA analysis results demonstrated that the profiles of gut microbiota in mice receiving $\geq 2.5\%$ of SBp supplemented were well separated from those in mice fed with HFHS diet or control diet. The addition of SBp into HFHS diet significantly altered the compositions of gut microbiota on both phylum and family level. SBp increased the relative abundance of *Bacteroidetes* (B/F ratio) and decreased that of *Firmicutes* (F/B ratio). On family level, SBp increased the relative abundance of *S24-7/Muribaculaceae* is a family of bacteria with over 600 members commonly found in mice and humans and often associated with increased levels of short chain fatty acids (SCFAs) (Lagkouvardos et al., 2019). Acarbose as an anti-diabetic agent was found to contribute to the increased levels of *Muribaculaceae* and propionate in the mouse gut (Smith et al., 2019). Those findings indicated that the anti-diabetic effect of SBp may be mediated through the modification of bacterial composition and related metabolites in the gut.

C3G is the second most abundant anthocyanin in Saskatoon berry fruits. Previous studies demonstrated that C3G increased the activation of AMP-activated protein kinase, a key modulator of glucose metabolism, in skeletal muscle of mice (Yamashita

et al., 2016). C3G also augmented glucose-induced insulin secretion in pancreatic βcells and glucose uptake in hepatocytes (Luna-Vital & Gonzalez de Mejia, 2018). Results presented in the part 2 of this thesis demonstrated that supplementation of C3G significantly lowered fasting plasma glucose, lipids, insulin resistance in HFHS diet induced insulin resistant mice, which supported the previous findings on the effects of C3G (Luna-Vital & Gonzalez de Mejia, 2018; Yamashita et al., 2016). Our study revealed that the supplementation of C3G enhanced the abundances of *Bacteroidetes* phylum and *Muribaculaceae* family in HFHS diet-fed mice, which may explain the beneficial effects of Saskatoon berries in glucose metabolism. The inhibitory effects of C3G on glucose, lipids, insulin resistance, inflammation and gut microbiota were comparable to SBp containing similar amount of C3G. The findings suggest that C3G potentially may contribute to the beneficial effects of SBp in HFHS diet-fed mice.

Although previous studies examined the effects of 0.1-20% of SBp on monocyte adhesion (Zhao, Le, et al., 2014), the dose response of SBp on metabolic or microbial effects had not been documented in either animal or human studies. Due to the interest to know whether lower dosages of SBp could still effectively lower glucose and correlate with the disorders in metabolic and gut microbiota, the Part 3 experiment was conducted.

In the Part 3 study, two different concentrations of SBp were used: 1% and 2.5%. Biochemical results showed that supplementation of 1% SBp to HFHS diet had the ability to lower the levels of fasting plasma glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides, insulin resistance and inflammatory markers. The results of PCA demonstrated that the compositions of gut microbiota in mice receiving HFHS+1% SBp were partially separated from HFHS diet-fed mice, which suggested low doses of SBp may only partially alter the gut microbiota. The levels of fasting plasma glucose in mice receiving HFHS+2.5% SBp were also significantly lower than those receiving HFHS diet alone. However, no significant difference in glucose levels was found between HFHS+1%

SBp and HFHS+2.5% SBp group. Moreover, β -activity of gut microbiota in HFHS+2.5% SBp group was separate from that of HFHS group. In addition, analysis of relative changes showed that 5% SBp further inhibited the increase in insulin or HOMA-IR induced by HFHS diet compared to low dosages of SBp. A collection of results suggested that the impact of SBp on metabolism and gut microbiota could be dose-dependent.

Hypoglycemic effects of berries and possible mechanism

Berries and berry products have been considered as healthy food and have gained continuing popularity due to varieties of contained nutrients, low calories and unique flavorful taste. Berries not only are rich in macronutrients such monounsaturated fats and polyunsaturated fats, but also contain more vitamins and minerals, such as vitamin K and manganese, compared to other fruits such as apples. In recent decades, research on the benefits of berry consumption extended from antioxidant property to interaction with glycemia. In spite of having components that may elevate the blood glucose such as glucose and fructose, many berries that have similar nutritional structures as Saskatoon berry were proven to stabilize glucose level.

Previous human study demonstrated that sea buckthorn berry suppressed postprandial hyperglycemia and maintained glucose level in the form of both whole berries and ethanol extracts (Lehtonen et al., 2010). Glucose-stabilizing ability of ginseng berry was found in mice through a glucose tolerance test study in which intake of Panax ginseng berry extract of 150 mg/kg decreased glucose excursion by 46 % compared to control group (Attele et al., 2002). Consecutive administration of American ginseng berry juice of 0.6 mL/kg body weight for 10 days resulted in significant decrease in fasting blood glucose levels, with even a maintained effect observed after termination of administration (Xie et al., 2007).

In the dose-response study, although the plasma level of glucose was significantly

decreased after adding SBp (1%, 2.5% or 5%) to HFHS diet, higher concentrations (2.5% or 5%) of SBp did not cause further significant decrease in glucose level. However, this dose dependency was found in other berries in glucose regulation. Two different doses of American Ginseng Berry Juice, 50 mg/kg body weight and 150 mg/kg body weight, were used in a mouse model, and almost 20% lower level of fasting plasma glucose was found in 150 mg/kg group compared to 50 mg/kg group (Xie et al., 2007). Time dependence study with Chinese juniper berries showed that a single oral administration decreased plasma glucose level gradually with the time of the treatment (Ju et al., 2008). Those findings suggest that optimization of regimen for the hypoglycemic berries is important for an effective glucose control.

Although hypoglycemic effect was found in both Saskatoon berries and many other berries, the key functional ingredients in berries have not been fully uncovered. Since anthocyanins are major phytochemicals contained in many berry fruits, their involvement in glucose uptake and absorption were focused in recent decades. Such studies provided possible mechanism to elucidate the hypoglycemic effect of many berries. For example, study on the effect of delphinidin found that daily oral application of delphinidin for 4 months not only lowered plasma glucose level significantly, but also inhibited sodium-dependent glucose transport in jejunum mucosa (Hidalgo et al., 2014). C3G increased the translocation of glucose transporter-4, a key regulator for glucose uptake and insulin resistance, in skeletal muscle cells in mice (Yamashita et al., 2016). Besides, C3G-rich bayberry fruit extract (CRBFE) was reported to protect pancreatic β cells and upregulate pancreatic duodenal homeobox 1 gene expression responsible for encoding glucose transporter 2 (Sun et al., 2012). The findings imply that glucose-transporters in peripheral tissue are possible targets for anthocyanins to reduce intestine glucose absorption and glucose uptake.

The results of the present study showed that the supplementation of SBp or C3G relieved insulin resistance. The findings from other studies also support the insulin

resistance-alleviating capability of anthocyanin-rich berries. For example, jaboticaba berries, a type of Brazilian berries enriched with anthocyanins and potent antioxidant capacities, revealed that the intake of high-fat diet supplemented with 4% jaboticaba peel significantly reduced insulin resistance (Batista et al., 2017). The mechanism of berries responsible for insulin resistance alleviation is possible through regulating the insulin receptor substrate (IRS). Research found that Ginseng berry extract upregulated IRS with increased insulin sensitivity, suggesting that Ginseng berries may facilitate insulin function through modulation of IRS (Seo et al., 2015).

Although the present study first found the hypoglycemic effect of Saskatoon berries. Saskatoon berry is not the first berry that is reported to have such effect. The findings on the mechanisms from other studies, such as the regulation of glucose transporter and IRS, may help shed light on the mechanisms of the glucose-lowering and insulin resistance-reliving ability of Saskatoon berries.

Hypolipidemic effects of berries and possible mechanism

The present study demonstrated that SBp administration significantly decreased the plasma levels of cholesterol and triglyceride elevated by HFHS diet in mice. The findings on hypolipidemic effect in our study are consistent with a number of previous studies on other berry products. For example, daily consumption of 500mg aronia berry extract decreased fasting plasma total cholesterol by 8% and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) by 11% (Xie et al., 2017). Bilberry was also proven to significantly reduce LDL-C and increase high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (HDL-C) in clinical trials (Zhu et al., 2015).

The effect of C3G on plasma lipids in our study was also supported by other studies using either anthocyanin-rich extracts or C3G. For example, both black soybeanderived anthocyanins and black rice extract modulated the lipid profile by increasing HDL-C concentration and decreasing the plasma levels of triglyceride, total cholesterol and non-HDL cholesterol (Kwon et al., 2007; Xia et al., 2006). Incubation of the whole blood from hypercholesterolemic patients with C3G resulted in statistically significant reduction in cholesterol concentration in erythrocytes (Duchnowicz et al., 2012).

The mechanism of the hypolipidemic effect of SBp was not reported previously. However, based on the studies of other berries, the inhibition of lipid aggregation is a possible mechanism for maintaining normal lipid level. For example, the lipid aggregation-inhibiting ability of berries was demonstrated by a decrease in the rate of platelet aggregation in healthy normolipidemic men after taking sea buckthorn berry oil 5 g per day for 4 weeks, which also suggested the ability of berry consumption to prevent blood clotting (Johansson et al., 2000). Platelet aggregation was also found to be inhibited in studies with other anthocyanin-rich fruits such as bilberry, blueberry and cranberry (Wightman & Heuberger, 2015).

C3G was also found to decrease the plasma level in our study, implying that anthocyanins may play a regulating role in lipid metabolism. Processes such as synthesis, oxidation and transportation of lipids are reported to be improved in other supporting studies with anthocyanin supplementation. For example, significantly reduced activities of lipogenic enzymes cooccurred with decreased plasma cholesterol and triglycerides after administration of 150 mg/kg body weight black rice-derived C3G for 4 weeks (Um et al., 2013). Besides, both decrease in fatty acid synthesis and increase in fatty acid oxidation were found after Mulberry-derived anthocyanins (MAE) were provided (Chang et al., 2013). Fecal bile acid facilitates the elimination of cholesterol from the body. C3G was also found to promote fecal bile acid excretion, implying that the hypocholesterolemic activity of C3G was, at least in part, mediated by activating bile acid excretion (Wang et al., 2012).

In our study, we found the plasma lipid-lowering effect of SBp. Although the hypolipidemic components in SBp are not fully understood, C3G might be one of the

effective compounds in SBp, supported by the evidence showing the ability of C3G to inhibit fatty acid synthesis, facilitate fatty oxidation and promote bile acid excretion.

Inhibition of inflammation and possible mechanisms

Anti-inflammatory effects of supplementation of SBp were detected in the present study characterized by reduced inflammatory markers including TNF- α , MCP-1 and PAI-1. TNF- α , MCP-1 and PAI-1 are produced by vascular endothelial cells and adipocytes under inflammatory stimuli. TNF- α is a key inflammatory cytokine and implicated in the regulation of multiple inflammatory reactions. MCP-1 is a chemokine mediating the chemotactic reaction of monocytes (Fain, 2006). And PAI-1 is a physiological inhibitor for urokinase and tissue plasminogen activator. Recent studies demonstrated that PAI-1 is an inflammatory mediator and actively involved in monocyte adhesion (Zhao et al., 2017; Zhao, Ren, et al., 2014). Besides those three inflammatory markers used in the study, other common inflammatory markers may include interleukin-6 (IL-6) and interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β).

In addition to Saskatoon berries, the anti-inflammatory effect can be also found in many other berries. For example, research discovered that aronia berry inhibited IL-6 stimulated by IL-6 in murine splenocytes (Martin et al., 2014). Administration of Korean ginseng berry extract (KGBE) inhibited the expression of inflammatory cytokines in primary macrophages, including TNF- α and interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) (C. K. Kim et al., 2012). Moreover, European black nightshade-derived compounds also showed its anti-inflammatory ability with significant inhibitory effects on the LPS-induced IL-6 and IL-1 β production (Wang et al., 2017). Kiwi berry extracts suppressed the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-6 and TNF- α in murine macrophage cell line (An et al., 2016).

The supplementation of a major anthocyanin in SBp, C3G, in HFHS diet also reduced the levels of inflammatory markers in mice in the present study, which is comparable to that in mice fed with SBp containing equal amount of C3G, implying that the antiinflammatory effect of SBp may be attributed at least partially to the contained anthocyanins. Moreover, the anti-inflammatory effect of anthocyanins has also been observed in other experimental and clinical studies. In a human study, a total of 150 subjects with hypercholesterolemia had decreased levels of plasma cytokine IL-1 β after being treated with purified anthocyanin mixture (320 mg/day) for 24 weeks (Zhu et al., 2013). Research with white adipose tissue also showed that serum concentrations of inflammatory cytokines, including TNF- α , IL-6 and MCP-1, were reduced by C3G (Guo et al., 2012). In addition, cell studies on human macrophages found that the black currant extract rich in C3G inhibited the LPS-induced secretion of IL-6 in macrophages (Desjardins et al., 2012).

Two pathways might be involved in the anti-inflammatory effect of anthocyanins: nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) pathway and mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) pathway. Both pathways modulate gene expression under varieties of conditions such oxidative stress from reactive oxygen species (ROS). The stimuli that trigger the activation of those pathways contribute to the inflammatory response, and compounds that neutralize this process help inhibit inflammation occurrence. Anthocyanins from blueberry, blackberry and blackcurrant were observed to significantly decrease cellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels with a concomitant decrease in mRNA levels of both IL-1 β factor and TNF- α (Lee et al., 2014). Sea buckthorn berries were also reported to markedly reduce the expression of both TNF- α and IL-1 β by increasing superoxide dismutase (SOD) (Zhang et al., 2017). Cherry juice, containing C3G, cyanidin-3-rutinoside, pelargonidin-3-glucoside and pelargonidin-3-rutinoside, showed a strong antioxidant activity by increasing levels of SOD and decreasing lipid peroxidation in the mice consuming the cherry juice (Šarić et al., 2009).

In the present study, inflammatory markers were also found to be lowered by C3G. Supportive evidence from the other anthocyanin-containing berries suggests that the anti-inflammatory effect of Saskatoon berries may result from C3G or other phytochemicals with similar capacity.

Modulation of gut microbiota and implications

Gut microbiota plays a key role in host physiology and metabolism. Both whole berry fruits and berry extract play an important part in the modulation of gut microbiota (Etxeberria et al., 2013). Many berry-derived phytochemicals may have poor bioavailability for animal gastrointestinal tract due to lack of specific enzymes for degradation and utilization in animal physiological systems, which, however, raises the question about how berries and their components actually impact on health. Recent research pointed out that the main site for metabolizing the complex polyphenols into smaller phenolic compounds may be through the action of gut microorganisms. Specifically speaking, berry fruits and berry extracts lead to an increase in *Bifidobacterium, Lactobacillus* and *Akkermansia*, suggesting that a prebiotic-like effect may exist in berries and their compounds (Lavefve et al., 2020).

In fact, berry fruits and gut microbiota may have a mutual effect, since some phytochemicals in berries are utilized by certain bacteria, which might in turn affect the abundance of those bacteria and the profile of gut microbiota. The bioavailability of ellagitannins is an example. As an abundant phytochemical in strawberries, raspberries, and cloudberries, its concentration in the body appears to be dependent on the composition of gut microbiota (Puupponen-Pimiä et al., 2013). Another common type of polyphenol, anthocyanins, was also found to be catabolized by gut microbiota. A study showed that incubation of three single gut microbial strains, *Enterobacter cancerogenous, Bifidobacterium dentium* and *Dorea longicatena*, with elderberry-derived anthocyanins caused the degradation of anthocyanins, implying that anthocyanins might be largely transformed into other forms of metabolites in the gut environment (Bresciani et al., 2019).

Similar to our result on *Bacteroidetes* and *Firmicutes*, many studies found similar changes in either the relative abundance or the ratio of those two by berry-derived component-containing diets. A study in mice using 16S rRNA gene sequencing technique revealed that the HF diet-increased *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* ratio was reduced by honeyberry polyphenols. And bacterial genera belonging to the phylum *Firmicutes*, such as *Staphylococcus*, *Lactobacillus*, *Ruminococcus* and *Oscillospira*, were decreased by the polyphenols (Wu et al., 2018).

Berry extract may also promote the growth of certain bacteria as well as change the overall gut micriobiota profile. In a study with aronia extract, the growth of *Anaerostipes* was found to increase about 10% with *Bacteroides* increased by 193% (Istas et al., 2019). Jaboticaba extract also was found to alter gut microbiota profile by increasing *Lactobacillus*, *Bifidobacterium* and *Enterobacteriaceae* (Silva-Maia et al., 2019). Sea buckthorn berry juice enriched with polyphenols increased the abundances of *Lactobacilli*, *Bacteroides* and *Bifidobacteria* in vitro continuous gut model (Attri & Goel, 2018). Moreover, blueberries altered microbiota composition with an increase in *Gammaproteobacteria* with the normalization of TNF- α and IL-1 β in HF diet-fed rats (Lee et al., 2018).

Studies also have been trying to find the common characteristics of those berryenriched bacteria along with health improvement. Study with Goji berry found that supplementation of this fruit promoted *Lachnospiraceae* and *Ruminococcaceae* family bacteria. Butyryl coenzyme A (CoA) transferase is a key enzyme responsible for butyrate synthesis, which was increased in the fecal samples of Goji berry group, implying the mechanism of berry function may lie in the increase of butyrate-producing bacteria (Kang et al., 2018). Butyrate is one of SCFAs resulting from dietary fiber fermentation by gut microbiota in the colon (Wong et al., 2006). Changes in the profile of gut microbiota co-exist with alteration in the levels of SCFAs. Childhood obesity was found to be associated with an altered gut microbiota characterized by increased levels of *Firmicutes* and decreased levels of *Bacteroidetes*, which is also associated with the changes in SCFAs (Riva et al., 2017).

Besides butyrate, the other two common SCFAs, acetate and propionate, were also found to be associated with supplementation of berries or berry extract. Bilberry anthocyanin extract was found to cause the changes in SCFAs and intestinal mucosal barrier, which was associated with increases in *Lactobacillus*, *Bacteroides*, *Clostridiaceae 1*, *S24-7* and *Lachnospiraceae*, and decreases in *Verrucomicrobia* and *Euryarchaeota* in rats (Li et al., 2019).

However, compared to correlation evidence, fecal microbiota transplantation (FMT) could be a more direct proof of the role of gut microbiota in disease development. FMT transfers gut microbiota from a donor into the gastrointestinal tract of a recipient in order to achieve certain health benefits (Kim & Gluck, 2019). In a study using FMT, blueberry-derived proanthocyanins and anthocyanins were found to improve insulin resistance, and this findings reoccurred in germ-free mice after receiving FMT, giving a piece of direct evidence that anthocyanin-induced improvements in insulin resistance and glucose level may be at least partially caused by changes in the gut microbiota profile (Morissette et al., 2020).

Although FMT is not a core part of our present study, certain bacteria could be targets for future study. For example, *Muribaculaceae* is a candidate since its relative abundance was increased by SBp and C3G and found to be negatively correlated with low levels of glucose, cholesterol, triglycerides, insulin, and insulin resistance. The family of *Muribaculaceae*, also known as *S24-7*, is a predominate member of the mouse gut microbiome and common family in other mammalian gut environments. *Muribaculaceae* was also reportedly involved in translation and carbohydrate metabolism, as well as correlation with SCFAs (Smith et al., 2019). However, information on *Muribaculaceae* coming from 16S rRNA gene studies or short read metagenomic studies still remains limited (Lagkouvardos et al., 2019).

Besides *Muribaculaceae*, *Akkermansiaceae* is another possibly beneficial family that belongs to *Verrumicrobia*. For example, *Akkermansiaceae* was reported to be associated with low-protein diet with a increase in the abundance (Lai et al., 2019). In another study, both *Akkermansiaceae* and *Burkholderiaceae* showed negative relationships with triglycerides and LDL-cholesterol, with three SCFAs (acetate, propionate and butyrate) positively associated with *Akkermansiaceae* (Wang et al., 2020). In our study, the abundance of *Akkermansiaceae* in the HFHS group was the lowest and that of the control group was the highest. SBp or C3G supplementation relatively increased *Akkermansiaceae*, which implies that *Akkermansiaceae* may contribute to the health benefits of SBp or C3G.

Akkermansia muciniphila, a species of *Akkermansiaceae* family, has been widely studied in humans. *Akkermansia muciniphila* is a bacterium able to degrade goblet cell-produced mucin, which allows intestinal tract to become an ideal habitat for *Akkermansia muciniphila* to live (Derrien et al., 2004). Many studies found that this bacterium decreased in the gut of patients with obesity or type 2 diabetes (Ellekilde et al., 2014; Le Chatelier et al., 2013). Meanwhile, other studies found that *Akkermansia muciniphila* was shown to have probiotic-like properties and adjust diabetes-related metabolic markers. For example, 4 weeks of oral administration of *Akkermansia muciniphila* resulted in a significant increase of high-density lipoprotein and decrease in the hepatic glycogen (Zhang et al., 2018). Inflammation level was also alleviated after supplementation of *Akkermansia muciniphila*, characterized by decreases in the level of LPS after adding this bacterium to streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats (Zhang et al., 2018).

The present study was not able to identify gut microbiota at species level due to the limitation of 16S-rRNA gene sequencing technique. However, future studies using

metagenomics gene sequencing technique may help determine the involvement of *Akkermansia muciniphila* in the SBp-induced health benefits.

Overall, the mechanism for the anti-diabetic effect of Saskatoon berries is complicated and multidimensional. On one hand, berry fruit-derived components or their metabolites are possible to be utilized by some gut bacteria, which might explain the increase in the abundance of some bacteria such as *Muribaculaceae*. On the other hand, multiple pathways could be involved in the metabolism-regulating effect of Saskatoon berries, and gut microbiota might only contribute to the effect partially, indicating the complicacy of anti-diabetic mechanism of Saskatoon berries.

Conclusion

The present study demonstrated that the intake of SBp reduced HFHS diet-induced hyperglycemia, hyperlipidemia, insulin resistance and inflammation in mice. C3G, as a type of anthocyanin in SBp, has a similar ability to lower the levels of metabolic and inflammatory variables in mice. The beneficial effect of SBp is dose-dependent in the mice treated with 1-5% of SBp supplemented HFHS diet. Alterations in gut microbiota were also detected in the mice treated either SBp or C3G. SBp or C3G supplementation increased *Bacteroidetes/Firmicutes* ratio and abundances of *S24-7/Muribaculaceae* in mouse gut compared to mice fed with HFHS diet alone. The changes of the abundances of gut bacteria, particularly *Muribaculaceae* family bacteria, negatively correlated with the metabolic and inflammatory variables in the mice, showing the potential of Saskatoon berries in protecting against metabolic diseases and contributing to the overall health.

Limitations of the researches in the present study

Although the present study showed an anti-diabetic effect of both SBp and C3G, whether other phytochemicals in Saskatoon berries still have such effect remains unclear. In addition, the present study was only conducted in male mice due to the

purpose of simplifying the variables during the first stage of exploring the beneficial effects of SBp and C3G. Besides, the female and male mice might have different metabolic response to the provided diets in the study. Therefore, those effects of Saskatoon berries will be studied in female animals and women in subsequent studies. Periodical changes in hormones need to be taken into consideration when female individuals are included in the future study as well as the statistical methods for multiple variables (diet and sex) within a group. The profiles of gut microbiota were only assessed using 16S rRNA gene sequencing technique in the present study. Metagenomic analysis could be applied for more information in the future study. To fully understand the anti-diabetic mechanism of Saskatoon berries, the bioavailability and pharmacokinetics may also need to be examined in *in vivo* studies.

Future directions and knowledge translation

The anti-diabetic effect of SBp and C3G is likely regulated via a number of metabolic pathways. Thus, future studies will investigate the possible signal transduction pathways for SBp, C3G and their metabolites, which will help to understand the mechanism of the beneficial effects of Saskatoon berries. Since it is not clear whether the *Muribaculaceae* family is involved in preventing the development of diabetes in humans, FMT using identified *Muribaculaceae* may prove the therapeutic efficacy and help to identify the precise mechanism for the beneficial effects of Saskatoon berries and contained active compounds in the future study.

References

- Ahmadi, S., ManickamAchari, V., Hussain, Z., & Hashim, R. (2017). Epimeric and anomeric relationship of octyl-α-D-gluco/galactosides: Insight from density functional theory and atom in molecules studies. *Computational and Theoretical Chemistry*, 1108, 93-102.
- Alang, N., & Kelly, C. R. (2015). Weight gain after fecal microbiota transplantation. Open forum infectious diseases. *Open Forum Infectious Diseases*, 2(1), ofv004
- Alfaro, S., Mutis, A., Quiroz, A., Seguel, I., & Scheuermann, E. (2014). Effects of drying techniques on murtilla fruit polyphenols and antioxidant activity. *Journal* of Food Research, 3(5), 73-82.
- An, X., Lee, S. G., Kang, H., Heo, H. J., Cho, Y.-S., & Kim, D.-O. (2016). Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects of various cultivars of kiwi berry (Actinidia arguta) on lipopolysaccharide-stimulated RAW 264.7 cells. J Microbiol Biotechnol, 26(8), 1367-1374.
- Arora, S. K., & McFarlane, S. I. (2005). The case for low carbohydrate diets in diabetes management. *Nutrition & metabolism*, 2(1), 1-9.
- Astrup, A. (2001). Healthy lifestyles in Europe: prevention of obesity and type II diabetes by diet and physical activity. *Public health nutrition*, 4(2b), 499-515.
- Attele, A. S., Zhou, Y.-P., Xie, J.-T., Wu, J. A., Zhang, L., Dey, L., Pugh, W., Rue, P. A., Polonsky, K. S., & Yuan, C.-S. (2002). Antidiabetic effects of Panax ginseng berry extract and the identification of an effective component. *Diabetes*, 51(6), 1851-1858.
- Attri, S., & Goel, G. (2018). Influence of polyphenol rich seabuckthorn berries juice on release of polyphenols and colonic microbiota on exposure to simulated human digestion model. *Food research international*, 111, 314-323.
- Bakken, J. S., Borody, T., Brandt, L. J., Brill, J. V., Demarco, D. C., Franzos, M. A., Kelly, C., Khoruts, A., Louie, T., & Martinelli, L. P. (2011). Treating Clostridium difficile infection with fecal microbiota transplantation. *Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, 9(12), 1044-1049.
- Bakowska-Barczak, A. M., & Kolodziejczyk, P. (2008). Evaluation of Saskatoon berry (Amelanchier alnifolia Nutt.) cultivars for their polyphenol content, antioxidant properties, and storage stability. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 56(21), 9933-9940.

- Bakowska-Barczak, A. M., Schieber, A., & Kolodziejczyk, P. (2009). Characterization of Saskatoon berry (Amelanchier alnifolia Nutt.) seed oil. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 57(12), 5401-5406.
- Bakuradze, T., Tausend, A., Galan, J., Groh, I. A. M., Berry, D., Tur, J. A., Marko, D., & Richling, E. (2019). Antioxidative activity and health benefits of anthocyanin-rich fruit juice in healthy volunteers. *Free Radical Research*, 53(sup1), 1045-1055.
- Batista, Â. G., Soares, E. S., Mendonça, M. C., da Silva, J. K., Dionísio, A. P., Sartori, C. R., da Cruz-Höfling, M. A., & Maróstica Júnior, M. R. (2017). Jaboticaba berry peel intake prevents insulin-resistance-induced tau phosphorylation in mice. *Molecular nutrition & food research*, 61(10), 1600952.
- Bieniek, A., Markuszewski, B., Kopytowski, J., Pluta, S., & Markowski, J. (2019). Yielding and fruit quality of several cultivars and breeding clones of Amelanchier alnifolia grown in north-eastern Poland. *Zemdirbyste-Agriculture*, 106(4).
- Bock, G., Chittilapilly, E., Basu, R., Toffolo, G., Cobelli, C., Chandramouli, V., Landau,
 B. R., & Rizza, R. A. (2007). Contribution of hepatic and extrahepatic insulin resistance to the pathogenesis of impaired fasting glucose: role of increased rates of gluconeogenesis. *Diabetes*, 56(6), 1703-1711.
- Bresciani, L., Angelino, D., Vivas, E. I., Kerby, R. L., García-Viguera, C., Del Rio, D., Rey, F. E., & Mena, P. (2019). Differential catabolism of an anthocyanin-rich elderberry extract by three gut microbiota bacterial species. *Journal of* agricultural and food chemistry, 68(7), 1837-1843.
- Calle, M., & Fernandez, M. (2012). Inflammation and type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes & metabolism*, 38(3), 183-191.
- Cani, P. D., Bibiloni, R., Knauf, C., Waget, A., Neyrinck, A. M., Delzenne, N. M., & Burcelin, R. (2008). Changes in gut microbiota control metabolic endotoxemiainduced inflammation in high-fat diet–induced obesity and diabetes in mice. *Diabetes*, 57(6), 1470-1481.
- Chang, J.-J., Hsu, M.-J., Huang, H.-P., Chung, D.-J., Chang, Y.-C., & Wang, C.-J. (2013). Mulberry anthocyanins inhibit oleic acid induced lipid accumulation by reduction of lipogenesis and promotion of hepatic lipid clearance. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 61(25), 6069-6076.
- Chassard, C., Delmas, E., Robert, C., Lawson, P. A., & Bernalier-Donadille, A. (2012). Ruminococcus champanellensis sp. nov., a cellulose-degrading bacterium from

human gut microbiota. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology, 62(1), 138-143.

- Cho, N., Shaw, J., Karuranga, S., Huang, Y., da Rocha Fernandes, J., Ohlrogge, A., & Malanda, B. (2018). IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes research and clinical practice*, 138, 271-281.
- DeFronzo, R. (1982). Insulin secretion, insulin resistance, and obesity. *International Journal of Obesity*, 6(Suppl. 1), 73-82.
- Dentin, R., Liu, Y., Koo, S.-H., Hedrick, S., Vargas, T., Heredia, J., Yates, J., & Montminy, M. (2007). Insulin modulates gluconeogenesis by inhibition of the coactivator TORC2. *Nature*, 449(7160), 366-369.
- Derrien, M., Vaughan, E. E., Plugge, C. M., & de Vos, W. M. (2004). Akkermansia muciniphila gen. nov., sp. nov., a human intestinal mucin-degrading bacterium. *International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology*, 54(5), 1469-1476.
- Desjardins, J., Tanabe, S., Bergeron, C., Gafner, S., & Grenier, D. (2012). Anthocyaninrich black currant extract and cyanidin-3-O-glucoside have cytoprotective and anti-inflammatory properties. *Journal of medicinal food*, *15*(12), 1045-1050.

Dinarello, C. A. (2000). Proinflammatory cytokines. Chest, 118(2), 503-508.

- Duchnowicz, P., Broncel, M., Podsędek, A., & Koter-Michalak, M. (2012). Hypolipidemic and antioxidant effects of hydroxycinnamic acids, quercetin, and cyanidin 3-glucoside in hypercholesterolemic erythrocytes (in vitro study). *European journal of nutrition*, 51(4), 435-443.
- Eid, H. M., Wright, M. L., Anil Kumar, N., Qawasmeh, A., Hassan, S. T., Mocan, A., Nabavi, S. M., Rastrelli, L., Atanasov, A. G., & Haddad, P. S. (2017). Significance of microbiota in obesity and metabolic diseases and the modulatory potential by medicinal plant and food ingredients. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *8*, 387.
- Elisia, I., Hu, C., Popovich, D. G., & Kitts, D. D. (2007). Antioxidant assessment of an anthocyanin-enriched blackberry extract. *Food chemistry*, *101*(3), 1052-1058.
- Ellekilde, M., Krych, L., Hansen, C. H. F., Hufeldt, M. R., Dahl, K., Hansen, L. H., Sørensen, S. J., Vogensen, F. K., Nielsen, D. S., & Hansen, A. K. (2014). Characterization of the gut microbiota in leptin deficient obese mice– Correlation to inflammatory and diabetic parameters. *Research in veterinary*

science, 96(2), 241-250.

- Etxeberria, U., Fernández-Quintela, A., Milagro, F. I., Aguirre, L., Martínez, J. A., & Portillo, M. P. (2013). Impact of polyphenols and polyphenol-rich dietary sources on gut microbiota composition. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 61(40), 9517-9533.
- Fain, J. (2006). Release of interleukins and other inflammatory cytokines by human 518 adipose tissue is enhanced in obesity and primarily due to the nonfat cells. *Vitam 519 Horm 74: 443-477, 520.*
- Fan, Y., & Pedersen, O. (2020). Gut microbiota in human metabolic health and disease. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 1-17.
- Fuhrman, J. A. (2009). Microbial community structure and its functional implications. *Nature*, *459*(7244), 193-199.
- Gibbons, J. G., & Rinker, D. C. (2015). The genomics of microbial domestication in the fermented food environment. *Current opinion in genetics & development*, 35, 1-8.
- Gijsen, R., Hoeymans, N., Schellevis, F. G., Ruwaard, D., Satariano, W. A., & van den Bos, G. A. (2001). Causes and consequences of comorbidity: a review. *Journal* of clinical epidemiology, 54(7), 661-674.
- Grant, J., Ryland, D., Isaak, C. K., Prashar, S., Siow, Y. L., Taylor, C. G., & Aliani, M. (2017). Effect of vitamin D3 fortification and Saskatoon berry syrup addition on the flavor profile, acceptability, and antioxidant properties of rooibos tea (Aspalathus linearis). *Journal of food science*, 82(3), 807-817.
- Green, R., & Mazza, G. (1986). Relationships between anthocyanins, total phenolics, carbohydrates, acidity and colour of saskatoon berries. *Canadian Institute of Food Science and Technology Journal*, 19(3), 107-113.
- Grice, E. A., & Segre, J. A. (2012). The human microbiome: our second genome. *Annual review of genomics and human genetics*, 13, 151-170.
- Groop, L. C., Bonadonna, R. C., DelPrato, S., Ratheiser, K., Zyck, K., Ferrannini, E., & DeFronzo, R. A. (1989). Glucose and free fatty acid metabolism in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Evidence for multiple sites of insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 84(1), 205-213.
- Guerville, M., & Boudry, G. (2016). Gastrointestinal and hepatic mechanisms limiting entry and dissemination of lipopolysaccharide into the systemic circulation.

American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, *311*(1), G1-G15.

- Guo, H., Xia, M., Zou, T., Ling, W., Zhong, R., & Zhang, W. (2012). Cyanidin 3glucoside attenuates obesity-associated insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis in high-fat diet-fed and db/db mice via the transcription factor FoxO1. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, 23(4), 349-360.
- Hartung, D., Petrov, A., Haider, N., Fujimoto, S., Blankenberg, F., Fujimoto, A., Virmani, R., Kolodgie, F. D., Strauss, H. W., & Narula, J. (2007). Radiolabeled monocyte chemotactic protein 1 for the detection of inflammation in experimental atherosclerosis. *Journal of nuclear medicine*, 48(11), 1816-1821.
- Hidalgo, J., Flores, C., Hidalgo, M., Perez, M., Yanez, A., Quinones, L., Caceres, D., & Burgos, R. (2014). Delphinol® standardized maqui berry extract reduces postprandial blood glucose increase in individuals with impaired glucose regulation by novel mechanism of sodium glucose cotransporter inhibition. *Panminerva Med*, 56(2 Suppl 3), 1-7.
- Hosseinian, F. S., & Beta, T. (2007). Saskatoon and wild blueberries have higher anthocyanin contents than other Manitoba berries. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 55(26), 10832-10838.
- Hu, C., Kwok, B., & Kitts, D. (2005). Saskatoon berries (Amelanchier alnifolia Nutt.) scavenge free radicals and inhibit intracellular oxidation. *Food research international*, 38(8-9), 1079-1085.
- Huang, F., Zhao, R., Xia, M., & Shen, G. X. (2020). Impact of Cyanidin-3-Glucoside on Gut Microbiota and Relationship with Metabolism and Inflammation in High Fat-High Sucrose Diet-Induced Insulin Resistant Mice. *Microorganisms*, 8(8), 1238.
- Istas, G., Wood, E., Le Sayec, M., Rawlings, C., Yoon, J., Dandavate, V., Cera, D., Rampelli, S., Costabile, A., & Fromentin, E. (2019). Effects of aronia berry (poly) phenols on vascular function and gut microbiota: a double-blind randomized controlled trial in adult men. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 110(2), 316-329.
- Jia, W., Li, H., Zhao, L., & Nicholson, J. K. (2008). Gut microbiota: a potential new territory for drug targeting. *Nature reviews Drug discovery*, 7(2), 123-129.
- Johansson, A. K., Korte, H., Yang, B., Stanley, J. C., & Kallio, H. P. (2000). Sea buckthorn berry oil inhibits platelet aggregation. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, *11*(10), 491-495.

- Ju, J. B., Kim, J. S., Choi, C. W., Lee, H. K., Oh, T.-K., & Kim, S. C. (2008). Comparison between ethanolic and aqueous extracts from Chinese juniper berries for hypoglycaemic and hypolipidemic effects in alloxan-induced diabetic rats. *Journal of ethnopharmacology*, 115(1), 110-115.
- Kaeberlein, T., Lewis, K., & Epstein, S. S. (2002). Isolating" uncultivable" microorganisms in pure culture in a simulated natural environment. *Science*, 296(5570), 1127-1129.
- Kalt, W., Lawand, C., Ryan, D. A., McDonald, J. E., Donner, H., & Forney, C. F. (2003).
 Oxygen radical absorbing capacity, anthocyanin and phenolic content of highbush blueberries (Vaccinium corymbosum L.) during ripening and storage. *Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science*, 128(6), 917-923.
- Kang, Y., Yang, G., Zhang, S., Ross, C. F., & Zhu, M. J. (2018). Goji berry modulates gut microbiota and alleviates colitis in IL-10-deficient mice. *Molecular nutrition & food research*, 62(22), 1800535.
- Kent, A. D., & Triplett, E. W. (2002). Microbial communities and their interactions in soil and rhizosphere ecosystems. *Annual Reviews in Microbiology*, 56(1), 211-236.
- Kim, C. K., Cho, D. H., Lee, K. S., Lee, D. K., Park, C. W., Kim, W. G., Lee, S. J., Ha, K. S., Goo Taeg, O., & Kwon, Y. G. (2012). Ginseng berry extract prevents atherogenesis via anti-inflammatory action by upregulating phase II gene expression. *Evidence-based complementary and alternative medicine*, 2012.
- Kim, K. A., Gu, W., Lee, I. A., Joh, E. H., & Kim, D. H. (2012). High fat diet-induced gut microbiota exacerbates inflammation and obesity in mice via the TLR4 signaling pathway. *PloS one*, 7(10), e47713.
- Kim, K. O., & Gluck, M. (2019). Fecal microbiota transplantation: an update on clinical practice. *Clinical Endoscopy*, 52(2), 137.
- Krischer, J. P., Liu, X., Lernmark, Å., Hagopian, W. A., Rewers, M. J., She, J.-X., Toppari, J., Ziegler, A.-G., & Akolkar, B. (2017). The influence of type 1 diabetes genetic susceptibility regions, age, sex, and family history on the progression from multiple autoantibodies to type 1 diabetes: a TEDDY study report. *Diabetes*, 66(12), 3122-3129.
- Kwon, S.-H., Ahn, I.-S., Kim, S.-O., Kong, C.-S., Chung, H.-Y., Do, M.-S., & Park, K.-Y. (2007). Anti-obesity and hypolipidemic effects of black soybean anthocyanins. *Journal of medicinal food*, 10(3), 552-556.

- Lachowicz, S., Michalska, A., Lech, K., Majerska, J., Oszmiański, J., & Figiel, A. (2019). Comparison of the effect of four drying methods on polyphenols in saskatoon berry. *LWT*, 111, 727-736.
- Lachowicz, S., Oszmiański, J., & Pluta, S. (2017). The composition of bioactive compounds and antioxidant activity of Saskatoon berry (Amelanchier alnifolia Nutt.) genotypes grown in central Poland. *Food chemistry*, 235, 234-243.
- Lachowicz, S., Seliga, Ł., & Pluta, S. (2020). Distribution of phytochemicals and antioxidative potency in fruit peel, flesh, and seeds of Saskatoon berry. *Food chemistry*, 305, 125430.
- Lachowicz, S., Wiśniewski, R., Ochmian, I., Drzymała, K., & Pluta, S. (2019). Antimicrobiological, anti-hyperglycemic and anti-obesity potency of natural antioxidants in fruit fractions of Saskatoon berry. *Antioxidants*, 8(9), 397.
- Lagkouvardos, I., Lesker, T. R., Hitch, T. C., Gálvez, E. J., Smit, N., Neuhaus, K., Wang, J., Baines, J. F., Abt, B., & Stecher, B. (2019). Sequence and cultivation study of Muribaculaceae reveals novel species, host preference, and functional potential of this yet undescribed family. *Microbiome*, 7(1), 1-15.
- Lai, S., Molfino, A., Testorio, M., Perrotta, A. M., Currado, A., Pintus, G., Pietrucci, D., Unida, V., La Rocca, D., & Biocca, S. (2019). Effect of low-protein diet and inulin on microbiota and clinical parameters in patients with chronic kidney disease. *Nutrients*, 11(12), 3006.
- Larsen, N., Vogensen, F. K., Van Den Berg, F. W., Nielsen, D. S., Andreasen, A. S., Pedersen, B. K., Al-Soud, W. A., Sørensen, S. J., Hansen, L. H., & Jakobsen, M. (2010). Gut microbiota in human adults with type 2 diabetes differs from nondiabetic adults. *PloS one*, 5(2), e9085.
- Laughlin, K. M., Askew, R. G., & Smith, R. C. (1996). Juneberry for commercial and home use on the northern Great Plains. North Dakota State University.
- Lavefve, L., Howard, L. R., & Carbonero, F. (2020). Berry polyphenols metabolism and impact on human gut microbiota and health. *Food & function*, 11(1), 45-65.
- Lavola, A., Karjalainen, R., & Julkunen-Tiitto, R. (2012). Bioactive polyphenols in leaves, stems, and berries of Saskatoon (Amelanchier alnifolia Nutt.) cultivars. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 60(4), 1020-1027.
- Le Chatelier, E., Nielsen, T., Qin, J., Prifti, E., Hildebrand, F., Falony, G., Almeida, M., Arumugam, M., Batto, J.-M., & Kennedy, S. (2013). Richness of human gut microbiome correlates with metabolic markers. *Nature*, 500(7464), 541-546.

- Lee, S., Keirsey, K. I., Kirkland, R., Grunewald, Z. I., Fischer, J. G., & de La Serre, C.
 B. (2018). Blueberry supplementation influences the gut microbiota, inflammation, and insulin resistance in high-fat-diet–fed rats. *The Journal of nutrition*, 148(2), 209-219.
- Lee, S. G., Kim, B., Yang, Y., Pham, T. X., Park, Y.-K., Manatou, J., Koo, S. I., Chun, O. K., & Lee, J.-Y. (2014). Berry anthocyanins suppress the expression and secretion of proinflammatory mediators in macrophages by inhibiting nuclear translocation of NF-κB independent of NRF2-mediated mechanism. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, 25(4), 404-411.
- Lehtonen, H., Järvinen, R., Linderborg, K., Viitanen, M., Venojärvi, M., Alanko, H., & Kallio, H. (2010). Postprandial hyperglycemia and insulin response are affected by sea buckthorn (Hippophaë rhamnoides ssp. turkestanica) berry and its ethanol-soluble metabolites. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, 64(12), 1465-1471.
- Leighton, A. (1997). Berry Soup, Pemmican and Other Native Use of the Common Berries. *Blue Jay*, 55(2).
- Li, J., Wu, T., Li, N., Wang, X., Chen, G., & Lyu, X. (2019). Bilberry anthocyanin extract promotes intestinal barrier function and inhibits digestive enzyme activity by regulating the gut microbiota in aging rats. *Food & function*, 10(1), 333-343.
- Loeppky, H. A. (1984). *Propagation of the Amelanchier alnifolia (Nutt.) Nutt.* [Master's thesis, University of Manitoba]. University of Manitoba MSpace.
- Luna-Vital, D. A., & Gonzalez de Mejia, E. (2018). Anthocyanins from purple corn activate free fatty acid-receptor 1 and glucokinase enhancing in vitro insulin secretion and hepatic glucose uptake. *PloS one*, *13*(7), e0200449.
- Manco, M., Putignani, L., & Bottazzo, G. F. (2010). Gut microbiota, lipopolysaccharides, and innate immunity in the pathogenesis of obesity and cardiovascular risk. *Endocrine reviews*, *31*(6), 817-844.
- Mariat, D., Firmesse, O., Levenez, F., Guimarăes, V., Sokol, H., Doré, J., Corthier, G., & Furet, J. (2009). The Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes ratio of the human microbiota changes with age. *BMC microbiology*, 9(1), 123.
- Marschner, P., Kandeler, E., & Marschner, B. (2003). Structure and function of the soil microbial community in a long-term fertilizer experiment. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *35*(3), 453-461.

- Martin, D. A., Taheri, R., Brand, M. H., Draghi II, A., Sylvester, F. A., & Bolling, B. W. (2014). Anti-inflammatory activity of aronia berry extracts in murine splenocytes. *Journal of Functional Foods*, 8, 68-75.
- Mayer, J. P., Zhang, F., & DiMarchi, R. D. (2007). Insulin structure and function. *Peptide Science: Original Research on Biomolecules*, 88(5), 687-713.
- Mazza, G. (2005). Compositional and functional properties of saskatoon berry and blueberry. *International journal of fruit science*, 5(3), 101-120.
- Mazza, G., & Davidson, C. (1993). Saskatoon berry: A fruit crop for the prairies. *New crops. Wiley, New York*, 516-519.
- Meczarska, K., Cyboran-Mikolajczyk, S., Wloch, A., Bonarska-Kujawa, D., Oszmianski, J., & Kleszczynska, H. (2017). Polyphenol content and bioactivity of Saskatoon (Amelanchier alnifolia Nutt.) leaves and berries. *Acta Pol. Pharm*, 74, 660-669.
- Mellitus, D. (2005). Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes care*, 28(S37), S5-S10.
- Miranda, C. L., Johnson, L. A., De Montgolfier, O., Elias, V. D., Ullrich, L. S., Hay, J. J., Paraiso, I. L., Choi, J., Reed, R. L., & Revel, J. S. (2018). Non-estrogenic xanthohumol derivatives mitigate insulin resistance and cognitive impairment in high-fat diet-induced obese mice. *Scientific reports*, 8(1), 1-17.
- Morigny, P., Houssier, M., Mouisel, E., & Langin, D. (2016). Adipocyte lipolysis and insulin resistance. *Biochimie*, 125, 259-266.
- Morissette, A., Kropp, C., Songpadith, J.-P., Junges Moreira, R., Costa, J., Mariné Casadó, R., Pilon, G., Varin, T. V., Dudonné, S., & Boutekrabt, L. (2020).
 Blueberry proanthocyanidins and anthocyanins improve metabolic health through a gut microbiota-dependent mechanism in diet-induced obese mice. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 318(6), E965-E980
- Nakaishi, H., Matsumoto, H., Tominaga, S., & Hirayama, M. (2000). Effects of black currant anthocyanoside intake on dark adaptation and VDT work-induced transient refractive alteration in healthy humans. *Alternative Medicine Review*, *5*(6), 553-562.
- Olson, A. R. (1984). Structural aspects of pollination in Amelanchier alnifolia (Maloideae). *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 62(4), 858-864.

- Panchal, S. K., Poudyal, H., Iyer, A., Nazer, R., Alam, A., Diwan, V., Kauter, K., Sernia, C., Campbell, F., & Ward, L. (2011). High-carbohydrate high-fat diet–induced metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular remodeling in rats. *Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology*, 57(1), 51-64.
- Petersen, K. F., & Shulman, G. I. (2002). Pathogenesis of skeletal muscle insulin resistance in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *The American journal of cardiology*, 90(5), 11-18.
- Puupponen-Pimiä, R., Seppänen-Laakso, T., Kankainen, M., Maukonen, J., Törrönen, R., Kolehmainen, M., Leppänen, T., Moilanen, E., Nohynek, L., & Aura, A. M. (2013). Effects of ellagitannin-rich berries on blood lipids, gut microbiota, and urolithin production in human subjects with symptoms of metabolic syndrome. *Molecular nutrition & food research*, 57(12), 2258-2263.
- Reddy, L. (2006). Drying characteristics of Saskatoon berries under microwave and combined microwave-convection heating [Master's thesis, University of Saskatchewan]. University of Saskatchewan HARVEST.
- Reid, G., Younes, J. A., Van der Mei, H. C., Gloor, G. B., Knight, R., & Busscher, H. J. (2011). Microbiota restoration: natural and supplemented recovery of human microbial communities. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 9(1), 27-38.
- Reusch, J. E. (2002). Current concepts in insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and the metabolic syndrome. *The American journal of cardiology*, 90(5), 19-26.
- Riva, A., Borgo, F., Lassandro, C., Verduci, E., Morace, G., Borghi, E., & Berry, D. (2017). Pediatric obesity is associated with an altered gut microbiota and discordant shifts in F irmicutes populations. *Environmental microbiology*, 19(1), 95-105.
- Rodriguez-Mateos, A., Istas, G., Boschek, L., Feliciano, R. P., Mills, C. E., Boby, C., Gomez-Alonso, S., Milenkovic, D., & Heiss, C. (2019). Circulating anthocyanin metabolites mediate vascular benefits of blueberries: insights from randomized controlled trials, metabolomics, and nutrigenomics. *The Journals* of Gerontology: Series A, 74(7), 967-976.
- Samaha, F. F., Iqbal, N., Seshadri, P., Chicano, K. L., Daily, D. A., McGrory, J., Williams, T., Williams, M., Gracely, E. J., & Stern, L. (2003). A lowcarbohydrate as compared with a low-fat diet in severe obesity. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 348(21), 2074-2081.
- Sami, W., Ansari, T., Butt, N. S., & Ab Hamid, M. R. (2017). Effect of diet on type 2 diabetes mellitus: A review. *International journal of health sciences*, *11*(2), 65.

- Šarić, A., Sobočanec, S., Balog, T., Kušić, B., Šverko, V., Dragović-Uzelac, V., Levaj, B., Čosić, Z., Šafranko, Ž. M., & Marotti, T. (2009). Improved antioxidant and anti-inflammatory potential in mice consuming sour cherry juice (Prunus Cerasus cv. Maraska). *Plant foods for human nutrition*, 64(4), 231.
- Seo, E., Kim, S., Lee, S. J., Oh, B.-C., & Jun, H.-S. (2015). Ginseng berry extract supplementation improves age-related decline of insulin signaling in mice. *Nutrients*, 7(4), 3038-3053.
- Shade, A., Peter, H., Allison, S. D., Baho, D., Berga, M., Bürgmann, H., Huber, D. H., Langenheder, S., Lennon, J. T., & Martiny, J. B. (2012). Fundamentals of microbial community resistance and resilience. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 3, 417.
- Shoelson, S. E., Lee, J., & Goldfine, A. B. (2006). Inflammation and insulin resistance. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *116*(7), 1793-1801.
- Silva-Maia, J. K., Batista, A. G., Correa, L. C., Lima, G. C., Bogusz Junior, S., & Maróstica Junior, M. R. (2019). Aqueous extract of berry (Plinia jaboticaba) byproduct modulates gut microbiota and maintains the balance on antioxidant defense system in rats. *Journal of food biochemistry*, 43(2), e12705.
- Singh, B. K. (2010). Exploring microbial diversity for biotechnology: the way forward. *Trends in biotechnology*, 28(3), 111-116.
- Smith, B. J., Miller, R. A., Ericsson, A. C., Harrison, D. C., Strong, R., & Schmidt, T. M. (2019). Changes in the gut microbiome and fermentation products concurrent with enhanced longevity in acarbose-treated mice. BMC microbiology, 19(1), 1-16.
- Smits, L. P., Bouter, K. E., de Vos, W. M., Borody, T. J., & Nieuwdorp, M. (2013). Therapeutic potential of fecal microbiota transplantation. *Gastroenterology*, 145(5), 946-953.
- St-Pierre, R., Zatylny, A., & Tulloch, H. (2005). Evaluation of growth and fruit production characteristics of 15 saskatoon (Amelanchier alnifolia Nutt.) cultivars at maturity. *Canadian journal of plant science*, 85(4), 929-932.
- Sun, C.-D., Zhang, B., Zhang, J.-K., Xu, C.-J., Wu, Y.-L., Li, X., & Chen, K.-S. (2012). Cyanidin-3-glucoside-rich extract from Chinese bayberry fruit protects pancreatic β cells and ameliorates hyperglycemia in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. *Journal of medicinal food*, 15(3), 288-298.
- Sun, L., Ma, L., Ma, Y., Zhang, F., Zhao, C., & Nie, Y. (2018). Insights into the role of

gut microbiota in obesity: pathogenesis, mechanisms, and therapeutic perspectives. *Protein & cell*, 9(5), 397-403.

- Turner, N. J., & Aderkas, P. v. (2012). Sustained by First Nations: European newcomers use of Indigenous plant foods in tempterate North America. Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae, 81(4).
- Turrini, E., Ferruzzi, L., & Fimognari, C. (2017). Possible effects of dietary anthocyanins on diabetes and insulin resistance. *Current drug targets*, 18(6), 629-640.
- Um, M. Y., Ahn, J., & Ha, T. Y. (2013). Hypolipidaemic effects of cyanidin 3-glucoside rich extract from black rice through regulating hepatic lipogenic enzyme activities. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 93(12), 3126-3128.
- Wang, D., Xia, M., Gao, S., Li, D., Zhang, Y., Jin, T., & Ling, W. (2012). Cyanidin-3-O-β-glucoside upregulates hepatic cholesterol 7α-hydroxylase expression and reduces hypercholesterolemia in mice. *Molecular nutrition & food research*, 56(4), 610-621.
- Wang, Y., Li, L., Ye, C., Yuan, J., & Qin, S. (2020). Alginate oligosaccharide improves lipid metabolism and inflammation by modulating gut microbiota in high-fat diet fed mice. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 1-14.
- Wang, Y., Xiang, L., Yi, X., & He, X. (2017). Potential anti-inflammatory steroidal saponins from the berries of Solanum nigrum L.(European black nightshade). *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, 65(21), 4262-4272.
- Wightman, J. D., & Heuberger, R. A. (2015). Effect of grape and other berries on cardiovascular health. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 95(8), 1584-1597.
- Wong, J. M., De Souza, R., Kendall, C. W., Emam, A., & Jenkins, D. J. (2006). Colonic health: fermentation and short chain fatty acids. *Journal of clinical* gastroenterology, 40(3), 235-243.
- Wu, S., Hu, R., Nakano, H., Chen, K., Liu, M., He, X., Zhang, H., He, J., & Hou, D.-X. (2018). Modulation of gut microbiota by Lonicera caerulea L. berry polyphenols in a mouse model of fatty liver induced by high fat diet. *Molecules*, 23(12), 3213.
- Xia, X., Ling, W., Ma, J., Xia, M., Hou, M., Wang, Q., Zhu, H., & Tang, Z. (2006). An anthocyanin-rich extract from black rice enhances atherosclerotic plaque stabilization in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *The Journal of nutrition*,

136(8), 2220-2225.

- Xia, Y., Wen, X., Zhang, B., & Yang, Y. (2018). Diversity and assembly patterns of activated sludge microbial communities: a review. *Biotechnology advances*, 36(4), 1038-1047.
- Xie, J., Wang, C., Ni, M., Wu, J., Mehendale, S., Aung, H., Foo, A., & Yuan, C. (2007). American ginseng berry juice intake reduces blood glucose and body weight in ob/ob mice. *Journal of food science*, 72(8), S590-S594.
- Xie, L., Vance, T., Kim, B., Lee, S. G., Caceres, C., Wang, Y., Hubert, P. A., Lee, J.-Y., Chun, O. K., & Bolling, B. W. (2017). Aronia berry polyphenol consumption reduces plasma total and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in former smokers without lowering biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress: a randomized controlled trial. *Nutrition research*, 37, 67-77.
- Yamashita, Y., Wang, L., Nanba, F., Ito, C., Toda, T., & Ashida, H. (2016). Procyanidin promotes translocation of glucose transporter 4 in muscle of mice through activation of insulin and AMPK signaling pathways. *PloS one*, *11*(9), e0161704.
- Zhang, L., Qin, Q., Liu, M., Zhang, X., He, F., & Wang, G. (2018). Akkermansia muciniphila can reduce the damage of gluco/lipotoxicity, oxidative stress and inflammation, and normalize intestine microbiota in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Pathogens and disease*, 76(4), fty028.
- Zhang, W., Zhang, X., Zou, K., Xie, J., Zhao, S., Liu, J., Liu, H., Wang, J., & Wang, Y. (2017). Seabuckthorn berry polysaccharide protects against carbon tetrachloride-induced hepatotoxicity in mice via anti-oxidative and antiinflammatory activities. *Food & function*, 8(9), 3130-3138.
- Zhang, X., Zhao, Y., Zhang, M., Pang, X., Xu, J., Kang, C., Li, M., Zhang, C., Zhang, Z., & Zhang, Y. (2012). Structural changes of gut microbiota during berberinemediated prevention of obesity and insulin resistance in high-fat diet-fed rats. *PloS one*, 7(8), e42529.
- Zhao, R., Khafipour, E., Sepehri, S., Huang, F., Beta, T., & Shen, G. X. (2019). Impact of Saskatoon berry powder on insulin resistance and relationship with intestinal microbiota in high fat-high sucrose diet-induced obese mice. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, 69, 130-138.
- Zhao, R., Le, K., Li, W., Ren, S., Moghadasian, M. H., Beta, T., & Shen, G. X. (2014). Effects of Saskatoon berry powder on monocyte adhesion to vascular wall of leptin receptor-deficient diabetic mice. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, 25(8), 851-857.

- Zhao, R., Le, K., Moghadasian, M. H., & Shen, G. X. (2017). Reduced monocyte adhesion to aortae of diabetic plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 knockout mice. *Inflammation Research*, 66(9), 783-792.
- Zhao, R., Ren, S., Moghadasain, M. H., Rempel, J. D., & Shen, G. X. (2014). Involvement of fibrinolytic regulators in adhesion of monocytes to vascular endothelial cells induced by glycated LDL and to aorta from diabetic mice. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, 95(6), 941-949.
- Zhao, R., Xie, X., Le, K., Li, W., Moghadasian, M. H., Beta, T., & Shen, G. X. (2015). Endoplasmic reticulum stress in diabetic mouse or glycated LDL-treated endothelial cells: protective effect of Saskatoon berry powder and cyanidin glycans. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*, 26(11), 1248-1253.
- Zheng, Y., Ley, S. H., & Hu, F. B. (2018). Global aetiology and epidemiology of type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 14(2), 88.
- Zhu, B., Wang, X., & Li, L. (2010). Human gut microbiome: the second genome of human body. *Protein & cell*, 1(8), 718-725.
- Zhu, Y., Ling, W., Guo, H., Song, F., Ye, Q., Zou, T., Li, D., Zhang, Y., Li, G., & Xiao, Y. (2013). Anti-inflammatory effect of purified dietary anthocyanin in adults with hypercholesterolemia: a randomized controlled trial. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases*, 23(9), 843-849.
- Zhu, Y., Miao, Y., Meng, Z., & Zhong, Y. (2015). Effects of vaccinium berries on serum lipids: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Evidence-based* complementary and alternative medicine, 2015.